
 

 
 
 
Safest People, Safest Places 
 
 

 

 

 
Local Government Act 1972 

 
A Meeting of the Combined Fire Authority for County Durham and 
Darlington Human Resources Committee will be held in the County 
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service Headquarters on 
Tuesday 16 May 2023 at 10.00 am to consider the following business:- 
 

PART A 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Minutes of the previous meeting - 2 December 2022  (Pages 3 - 4) 

3. Sickness Absence Performance Report Quarter Four 1 April 2022 to 
31 March 2023  (Pages 5 - 16) 

4. Health and Safety Report 2022/23  (Pages 17 - 26) 

5. Private Medical Care  (Pages 27 - 30) 

6. Values and Culture in Fire and Rescue Services Spotlight Report  
(Pages 31 - 106) 

 
PURSUANT to the provisions of the above named Act, I HEREBY SUMMON 
YOU to attend the said meeting 
 

 
H LYNCH 

Clerk to the Combined Fire Authority 
for County Durham and Darlington 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
DH1 5UL 
 
TO: The Members of the Combined Fire Authority for County Durham 

and Darlington Human Resources Committee 
 
Durham County Councillors: 
Councillors L Mavin, C Marshall, A Batey, J Cairns and J Quinn 
 
Darlington Borough Councillors: 
Councillors C McEwan 



 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Human Resources Committee held at Fire HQ on Friday 2 
December 2022 at 1000 hours. 
 
Present:    Cllr L Mavin in the Chair 
 
Durham County Council: C Marshall, J Quinn 
 
Darlington Borough Council: - 
 
Officers: K Metcalfe 
 G Carr 
 
      
Part A 
 

1 Apologies 
 
Apologies were received from Cllrs J Cairns, A Batey and C McEwan.  

 

 

2 Minutes of previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 22 September 2022 were agreed as a true record. 

 
 
3 Sickness Absence Quarter Two 1 April 2022 – 30 September 2022 
 

K Metcalfe provided members with an update on sickness absence performance for 
the period 1 April 2022 to 30 September 2022. 

 
 Discussion took place on the reduction of long term sick. 
 

The Committee noted and commented on the report. 
  
 

4 Health and Safety Performance Quarter Two 1 April 2022 – 30 September 2022  
 
G Carr provided Members with a summary of the Service’s health and safety 
performance to the end of the second quarter of the 2022/23 reporting period. 
 
Performance and accidents were looked at in turn. 
 
Discussion followed how the warmer weather had caused greater callouts.  

 
The Committee noted and commented on the report. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 

 
 

5 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 
 
K Metcalfe introduced the report which gave members an overview of the work carried 
out by the services Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Group (EDIG). 
 
Discussion took place on the action plan. 

 
The report was noted.  

 
6 AOB 
 

Cllr Mavin asked for it to be put on record the committees thanks to the Chief Fire 
Officer for his commitment and support to the Authority and wished him well for his 
retirement. 

  

Page 4



 

 
 

 

 
 
Human Resources Committee 
 
16 May 2023 
 
Sickness Absence Performance  
 
Quarter Four 1 April 2022 – 31 March 2023 
 
Report of Director of People and Organisational Development 
 
Purpose of the report  
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide Members with an update on sickness absence 

performance for the period 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023. 

 

Background 

 

2. The effective management of absence is a key performance issue for any organisation. This 

is particularly important when operating in a climate of reduced financial and human resources. 

 

3. The Service places significant emphasis on the effective management and reporting of 

sickness absence and Members have an important role to play in providing an overview of the 

arrangements that are in place and the performance that is achieved. 

 

Summary of Sickness Statistics 

 

4. The sickness statistics for the period 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 are calculated as average 

working shifts/days lost per person. 

 

5. The Service compares sickness levels to the targets that have been set for the year and to 

previous year’s performance to provide a rounded view of sickness performance, and to help 

to identify any trends in particular areas. 

 

 

Safest People, Safest Places 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

 
 

6. For the purposes of the performance indicators all covid-19 related absence is now included 

in our reporting figures. There is now no differentiation in the management between an 

absence due to Covid-19 than any other reason.  

 

7. Table 1 sets out the sickness statistics against three key performance indicators. These 

indicators were measures previously used to measure performance within the best value 

framework and the Service continues to use these measures to enable national comparisons 

to be undertaken at year end. 

 
 
Table 1 Key Sickness Statistics by Best Value Indicators 

  

Performance Indicator Apr 22 to 

March 23 

Apr 22 to 

March 23 

Target 

Variance Apr 21 to 

March 22 

(PYR) 

Direction 

of Travel 

Working shifts / days lost 

for all staff. 

 

9.63 6.0 +3.63 12.03 

 

Improved 

Working shifts / days lost 

due to sickness for all 

Wholetime, Control and 

Non- Uniformed 

8.86 6.0 +2.86 11.24 

 

 

Improved 

Working shifts / days lost 

due to sickness for all 

Wholetime and Control 

8.95 6.0 +2.95 

 

10.78 

 

 

Improved 

 

  

8. Overall, there has been almost 20% decrease on total shifts lost in comparison with quarter 4 

of 2021-22 however figures remain high and over target.  Covid-19 related absences contribute 

to just under 14% in comparison with 30% at this point last year. The reduction was expected 

however it still has an impact.  

 

9. In line with previous performance, MSK and mental health account for a significant amount of 

all absence with MSK just under 42% and mental health just over 14%. Long term sickness 

still accounts for approximately 67% of the Service’s total absence during this period which is 

slightly higher than last year where it sat at approximately 59%.  Longer delays for treatment 

are impacting on the length of absences.   

 

Page 6



 

 
 

10. Whilst still high, overall absence has seen a decrease of 25% from last year. WT has seen a 

decrease of 21%, RDS 25%, Control 32% and Corporate 41% from the figures reported at the 

end of 2021-22.  Even though all indicators are showing a positive direction of travel in 

comparison with last years figures which is positive, absence levels are still higher than we 

would like.  

 
11. The graph below shows the shift lost for all staff over the previous 10 years. 

 

 
 
 
12. Table 2 below shows a further breakdown over the specific staff groups that are employed by 

the Service.  

 

Table 2 Sickness by Staff Group 

 

Performance Indicator Apr 22 

to March 

23 

Apr 22 to 

March 23 

Target 

Variance Apr 21 to 

March 22 

(PYR) 

Direction 

of Travel 

 

WT Riders  

 

8.59 5.0 +3.59 10.39 

 

Improved 

 

FDO / Day Duty 

 

11.62 4.5 +7.12 11.93 

 

Improved 

 

Control 

 

8.4  8 +0.4 13.44 

 

Improved 

 

RDS 

 

12.13 9 +3.13 14.52 

 

Improved 

Page 7



 

 
 

 

Non-uniformed 

 

8.55 5.0 +3.55 12.76 

 

Improved 

 

 

Wholetime Station Based Firefighters (Riders) 

 

13. The detailed sickness information relating to WT riders is summarised below.  

 

Description Days/Cost %/£ change from  

Q4 2021-22 

Total shifts lost to 31/03/2023 2198 -21%  

Long term sickness 1477 (67%) -10%  

 

Short term sickness 721 (33%) -36%  

Approximate cost of sickness £415,422 -£74,754 (-15%) 

 

14. The WT rider category has seen a 21% decrease in shifts lost when compared with the same 

reporting period in 2021/22. Long term absence has decreased slightly this year and is 

supported with significant decrease in short-term absences linked to the reduced impact of 

Covid-19. 

 

15. The graph below highlights absence within this category for the previous 10 years.   
 

 

 

16. Long term absence within this category has remained high all year equating to approximately 

67% of all absence in this staff group. At the end of the reporting period 6 staff members remain 

5.88
6.9

7.61 7.22

5.43

7.7

5.76
7.14

10.39

8.59

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23

Sh
if

ts
 L

o
st

 p
e

r 
P

e
rs

o
n

Reporting Year

Wholetime Riders

Page 8



 

 
 

in LTS with MSK and Mental Health being the main reasons. We envisage several of these will 

return to work in the early part of the next reporting period. 

 
17. Although the amount of mental health related absence still gives some cause for concern, 

overall, this has reduced since the start of the year. All cases relating to mental health are given 

appropriate support through Occupational Health (OH), EAP and where required, therapeutic 

support has been provided in terms of counselling or cognitive behavioral therapy, we will 

continue to monitor them going forward.  

 

18. Short term absence has also decreased (by 36%) this year in comparison to the same period 

last year, again aligned to the reduction in Covid-19 absences from last year.  

 
19. This category is over target for the reporting year. 

 

Flexible Duty Officers and Day Duty  

 

20. The detailed sickness information relating to Flexible Duty Officers (FDO) and Day Duty (DD) 

staff is summarised below.  

 

FDO 

Description Days/Cost %/£ change from  

Q4 2021-22 

Total shifts lost to 31/03/2023 187 -35% 

Long term sickness 120 (64%) -15%  

Short term sickness  67 (36%) -54%  

Approximate cost of sickness £46,944 -£20,655 (-30%) 

       

Day Duty 

Description Days/Cost %/£ change from  

Q4 2021-22 

Total shifts lost to 31/03/2023 266 +25%  

Long term sickness 145 (53%) +45% 

Short term sickness 121 (47%) +7%  

Approximate cost of sickness £58,541 +£14,732 (+34) 

 

21. FDOs have seen a decrease in overall absences from the previous year yet day duty staff have 

seen an increase especially for long term absence.  

 

Page 9



 

 
 

22. MSK accounts to just over 36% of the absences in this group mostly due to long term absence. 

Covid related absences are accountable for almost 15% along with mental health.  

 
23. The graph below highlights absence within this category for the previous 10 years.   
 

 

24. This category is over target for the reporting year. 

 

Control  

 

25. The detailed sickness information relating to Control staff is summarised below.  

 

Description Days/Cost %/£ change from  

Q4 2021-22 

Total shifts lost to 31/03/2023 187 -32%  

Long term sickness 82 (44%) -36%  

Short term sickness 105 (56%) -28%  

Approximate cost of sickness £33,592 -£12,658 (-22%) 

  

26. The Control category of staff has seen a decrease of 32% in absence when compared with the 

same reporting period in 2021/22. The last month of the reporting year, no sickness was 

recorded and the four months preceding that were particularly low.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.18

2.48

10.8

3.13 3.26
4.5

8.2
6.02

11.93 11.62

0

5

10

15

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23

Sh
if

ts
 lo

st
 p

e
r 

P
e

rs
o

n

Reporting Year

Flexi and Day Duty Officers

Page 10



 

 
 

27. The graph below highlights absence within this category for the previous 10 years.   
 

 

28. This category is over target for the reporting year albeit only marginally. Improved performance 

in the latter half of the year impacted on the end of year figure.  

 

Non- Uniformed  

 

29. The detailed sickness information relating to non-uniformed staff is summarised below.  

 

Description Days/Cost %/£ change from  

Q4 2021-22 

Total shifts lost to 31/03/2023 751.8 -41%  

Long term sickness 449.5 (60%) -35%  

Short term sickness 302.3 (40%) -47%  

Approximate cost of sickness £71,609 -£49,307 (-41%) 

  

30. This category has seen a decrease of 41% in shifts lost when compared with the same 

reporting period in 2021/22 however, absence levels have remained high.  

 

31. The graph below highlights absence within this category for the previous 10 years.   
 

  

14.94

9.12 7.76

18.92

9.85 8.85
5.29 4.41

17.15
13.44

8.4

0

5

10

15

20

12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23

Sh
if

ts
 lo

st
 p

e
r 

P
e

rs
o

n

Reporting Year

Control

5.1 4.71
2.76

10.16

4.02
5.62

4.08 4.89

12.76

8.55

0

5

10

15

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23

Sh
if

ts
 lo

st
 p

e
r 

P
e

rs
o

n

Reporting Year

Non uniformed

Page 11



 

 
 

32. Covid related absences now equating to 19% of the full year’s absences in this category. There 

remain several cases of longer-term absence at the end of the reporting year who are awaiting 

medical intervention. Covid, MSK and mental health contribute to just over a third of sickness 

in this staff group.  

 

33. There was no covid related absences in this staff group for the last quarter of the reporting 

year.  

 

34. This category is over target for the reporting year. 

 

Retained Duty System (RDS) 

 

35. The detailed sickness information relating to RDS staff is summarised below.  

 

Description Days/Cost %/£ change from  

Q4 2021-22 

Total shifts lost to 31/03/2023 1509.04 -25%  

Long term sickness 1144.3 (76%) -13%  

Short term sickness 371.29 (24%) -47%  

Approximate cost of sickness £142,604 -£34,242 (-19%) 

  

36. The RDS category has seen a decrease of 25% in shifts lost when compared with the same 

reporting period in 2021/22. Two RDS staff remain absent long term at the end of the period.  

  

37. Short term absence had decreased steadily over the year and is reflected in the figures in the 

table above whereby it only accounts for 24% of all RDS absence.   

 
38. The graph below highlights absence within this category for the previous 10 years. 

 

 

 

12.17

5.92
10.1 9.46

12.15
15.33

10.37 9.1

14.52
12.13

0

5

10

15

20

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23

Sh
if

ts
 L

o
st

 p
e

r 
P

e
rs

o
n

Reporting Period

RDS

Page 12



 

 
 

39. This category is over target for the reporting year. 

  

Action Taken 

 

40. Sickness levels will continue to be monitored closely with regular analysis for any trends and 

patterns and instigation of the attendance management triggers where appropriate. The POD 

Manager and BPs meet regularly to discuss case management to allow a closer scrutiny and 

identify potential interventions at an early stage in the absence.  

 

41.  The POD are identifying managers, particularly those new into a management role, who may   

need greater guidance, support, and training.  

 

42. The Service continue to implement its revised procedures around modified duties. This will 

give managers a framework to follow to ensure the service is offering meaningful work and 

optimising opportunities where possible for those who are not able to undertake their normal 

duties due to an injury / illness.   

 

43. There are delays in diagnosis and treatment plans because of waiting lists in the NHS as well 

as significant waiting times for surgery. Support is being given to those who are awaiting 

medical intervention however, the impacts of these delays can be noted in our rise to long term 

absence. 

 

44. As part of the end of year review of performance indicators, the sickness levels have been 

reviewed and adjusted.  Targets set should be achievable and support a direction of travel.   

 
45. Several ill health retirements are being progressed which should alleviate some of the long-

term absence moving into the next reporting year.   

 
 

National Fire Service Data Comparison 

 

46. This data is supplied via the National OH Performance Report which is compiled by Cleveland 

Fire Brigade (CFB). All fire and rescue services (FRS) are asked to supply data for the main 

categories of employees; WT, Control, RDS and Non-uniformed. 

 

47. There is a set calculation which all FRS supplying information must adhere to, to ensure the 

data can be used to give an accurate comparison, however this varies to our own reporting.  

Page 13



 

 
 

The data helps our Service benchmark against other FRS in terms of sickness absence rates. 

The data range is for April to December 22 (Quarter 3).  

 

48. It should be noted that due to recording mechanisms and sickness absence policies within the 

various FRS’ Covid 19 Sickness for some FRS’ has not been included. This must therefore be 

borne in mind when comparing sickness levels. 

 

49. Performance across all indicators (Appendix A) is below the national average.  

 

50. Thirty-five FRS’ submitted data for the period April 2022 – December 2022. During this period, 

from the Fire Services who submitted data, there have been 286,991 shifts lost to sickness 

absence arising from 31,557 separate occurrences for all staff groups equating to 9.32 shifts 

per member of staff. There are three main causes of sickness absence for all staff groups; 

Musculo-Skeletal (90,680 shifts) accounting for 32% of all sickness absence followed by 

Mental Health (60,978 shifts) which accounts for 21% of sickness absence and Respiratory 

(32,349 shifts) accounting for 11% of sickness absence.  The Services data broadly aligns to 

the national picture.   

 
 
Recommendation 
 
51.   Members are asked to note and comment on the contents of this report.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 

 
 

Appendix A 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 15



 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 16



 
 
 
 
 

 
SERVICE LEADERSHIP TEAM 
 
MAY 2023 
 
HEALTH AND SAFETY REPORT – 2022/23 
 

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present a summary of the Service’s health and safety 

performance for 2022/23. 
 

2. Background 
 

2.1. The Health and Safety team (H&S) work under Corporate Resources and have ownership 
of four performance indicators (PI), PI 69 Number of Personal Accidents, PI 71 Number of 
Vehicle Accidents, PI73 – Local investigation not complete in 28 days and PI74 – Actions 
overdue from specified completion date. 
 

2.2. H&S work proactively with all personnel to prevent unwanted incidents occurring.  
Following any adverse event, H&S quality assure all investigations to ensure that 
appropriate measures are taken, and investigations are conducted to the appropriate 
standard.  

 
3. Current Performance 
 
3.1. An overview of the 2022/2023 performance for personal and vehicle accidents is as follows: 
 

 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total 

PI69 
Number of 
Personal 
Accidents 

0 1 2 0 1 0 0 1 2 0 1 0 8 

PI71 
Number of 
Vehicle 
Accidents 
(CDDFRS 
driver fault) 

1 2 4 5 2 0 2 4 1 1 2 1 25 

 

Table 1 number of personal accidents and vehicle accidents month by month for 2022/23. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



 
 
 
4. PI 69 Number of Personal Accidents  
 

 
 

Figure 1 personal accidents running total against the target set by the Service and previous year’s performance 2022/23.. 
 

4.1. This reporting year has seen a decrease in numbers against the set target and previous 
year.  
 

4.2. During the reporting period, two of the personal accidents occurred at the same 
operational incident. Following investigations, remedial actions have been addressed to 
minimise these occurrences in the future.  

 

4.3. Six accidents were reported as RIDDOR during the year. All of these were for over 7-day 
absence from work, because of the incident. 

 
4.4. Table 2 compares the previous five-year figures.  

 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

PI69 Number of Personal Accidents 23 17 12 13 8 
 

Table 2 number of personal accidents from 2018/19 – 2022/23 

 

  

1
2

3

6 6

8 8

10
11

12 12
13

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
10

11
12

0
1

3 3
4 4 4

5

7 7
8 8

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

A
p

ril

M
ay

Ju
n

e

Ju
ly

A
u

gu
st

Se
p

te
m

b
er

O
cto

b
e

r

N
o

vem
b

er

D
ece

m
b

er

Jan
u

ary

Fe
b

ru
ary

M
arch

Personal accidents 2022/23

Previous year Target 2022/23

Page 18



 
 
 
4.5. The Service continuously analyses adverse health and safety incidents to identify and 

react to any trends which are identified. Personal accidents are categorised in line with 
the following HSE reporting categories:  
 

Accident causation Frequency 

Cut 0 

Musculoskeletal 
disorders 

4 

Struck (by or against) 1 

Burn 0 

Slips, trips and falls 3 

Injection / Puncture 0 

Exposure to Hazardous 
Substance 

0 

Total 8 
 

Table 3 personal accident causation analysis 2022/23 

 

 
 
Figure 2 Chart personal accident causation analysis 2022/23. 

 
4.6. The information submitted to the Home Office is broken down into a number of areas 

outlined below (operational staff only): 
 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Operational incidents 3 6 2 2 7 

Training 2 3 3 10 0 

Routine duties 6 7 3 1 1 

Total 11 16 8 13 8 
 

Table 4 personal accidents for the environment of operational incidents, training, and other routine duties from 2018/19 - 2022/23. 

 

4

10

3

0 0

Personal Accident Causation Analysis 2022/23

Cut MSD

Struck by (or against) Burn

Slips, trips and falls Injection / puncture

Exposure to Hazardous substance

Page 19



 
 
 

 
 

 

Figure 3 personal accidents for the environment of operational incidents, training, and other routine duties from 2018/19– 

2022/23. 

 
 

 
 

Figure 4 personal accidents for the environment of operational incidents, training, and other routine duties from 2022/23. 

 
  

3

6

2 2

7

2
3 3

10

0

6

3 3

1 1
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Personal accident environment distribution 2018/19 -
2022/23

Operational incidents Training Routine duties

7

0 1

Personal accident environment distribution 2022/23

Operational Incidents Training Routine dutues

Page 20



 
 
 
5. PI 71 Number of Vehicle Accidents  

 

 
 

Figure 5 vehicle accidents (CDDFRS driver fault) running total against the target set by the Service and previous year’s 
performance 2022/23. 
 

5.1. The Service recorded 25 vehicle accidents during the 2022/23 period that were attributed 
to CDDFRS driver’s fault. In addition, there were also 2 vehicle accidents that were not 
the CDDFRS driver’s fault. 
  

5.2. The majority of vehicle accidents remain ‘slow speed manoeuvring’ causation. H&S 
continue to explore measures to reduce these figures. 

 
5.3. The total of 25 vehicle accidents was against a target of 18.  Trajectory over the year 

remained constant, however there was a significant increase in incidents during the 
months of June and July which had a detrimental impact on statistics for the remainder of 
the year. 
 

5.4. The rise in vehicle accidents during the months of June and July correlated with a 
significantly hot summer period, resulting in increased call volume to fires in the open and 
field fires where accessibility for responding crews and appliances was difficult. 
 

5.5. H&S have regular meetings with Driver Training aimed at identifying problematic areas.  
Reactive and proactive topics such as driving and accessing restricted areas in vehicles 
has been identified and considered as being foreseeable and as such features as a topic 
in 22/23 H&S proactive visits. 
 

5.6. H&S safety have reviewed and implemented a new procedure for vehicle accident 
investigation.  The new procedure relies on intersection collaboration between H&S and 
Driver Training ensuring high importance is placed on effective communication with those 
involved in the vehicle accident, shared learning from the event and a commitment to 
continuous improvement.   
 
 

5.7. H&S Team have introduced and developed a Vehicle Incident Group which focuses on 
any issues that are associated with vehicles and that may or could impact on service 

2
3

4
6

7
8 8

11 11

15
17

18

1
2

5
7

8
10

12
13

14
16

17
18

1
3

7

12
14 14

16

20
21

22
24

25

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

A
p

ril

M
ay

Ju
n

e

Ju
ly

A
u

gu
st

Se
p

te
m

b
er

O
cto

b
e

r

N
o

vem
b

er

D
ece

m
b

er

Jan
u

ary

Fe
b

ru
ary

M
arch

Vehicle accidents 2022/23

Previous year Target 2022/23

Page 21



 
 
 

performance, either negatively or positively.  The group is Chaired by the H&S team and 
has representation from relevant sections ie; Driver Training, Assests (Workshops) and 
emergency response.  The group focuses on horizon scanning and identifying areas for 
potential improvement. 
 

5.8. Table 5 shows the year-on-year figures for vehicle accidents (CDDFRS driver’s fault).  
 
Table 5 number of vehicle accidents from 2018/19 – 2022/23 

 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

PI71 Number of Vehicle Accidents 
(CDDFRS driver’s fault) 

26 21 18 18 25 

 

 

 
 

 
Figure 6 vehicle accidents broken down by Home Office reporting category 2022/23. 

 
 

 
 

Figure 7 vehicle accidents broken down by Home Office reporting category 2022/23  

5 5

7

5

12

15

8
7

12
13

0 0 0 0 0

6

8

4
3

0

2

6

3 3
2

0

5

10

15

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Vehicle accidents broken down by catergory 2018/19 -
2022/23

Appliance blue light Appliance non-blue light

Other vehicle blue light Other vehicle non-blue light

Third party / no driver fault

13

12

0 0

2

Vehicle accidents broken down by catergory 2022/23

Appliance blue light Appliance non-blue light

Other vehicle blue light Other vehicle non-blue light

Third part fault / no driver fault

Page 22



 
 
 
6. Investigations incomplete after 28 days and actions overdue their specified completion 

date 
 

6.1. An overview of the 2022/23 performance for these two indicators is as follows: 
 

 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

PI73 – 
Accident 
investigations 
not 
completed in 
28 days 

0 0 3 3 2 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 

PI74 – 
Actions 
overdue their 
specified 
completion 
date 

1 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 

 

Table 7 PI73 and PI74 month by month for 2021/22. 

 
6.2. These indicators are not cumulative and the numbers in the table are a count at the end of 

each month for current health and safety accident investigations and actions from 
previous investigations. The target for each month is zero for both indicators.  
 

6.3. The indicators show a good performance across the majority of reporting months with 
notable improvement in performance post July.  H&S are proactive in management of 
investigations and aim to provide timely reminders to investigation owners in regard to the 
completion dates for both investigations and subsequent investigation actions.  
 

6.4. H&S conduct quality assurance of investigations. Occasionally investigations require 
further information and/or evidence and as such H&S will reopen these investigations. 
This can impact our performance and can add rationale and reasoning to the above 
statistics.  
 

6.5. H&S are also considerate to external factors that may prevent an investigation being 
completed on time.  Factors such as sickness of key witnesses can delay investigations.  
Each case is considered independently and are actioned according to the level of risk 
associated. 
 

6.6. H&S offer support to action owners, requesting regular updates and ensuring the that any 
external influences on completion deadlines are noted.  OSHENS generates a notification 
to all action owners upon allocation. Further notifications are sent to the owner one month 
prior to the set completion date and every day once the action is overdue.  

 
6.7. H&S have increased the number of investigating officers over this period.  Those 

identified during IOSH training to have the right skill set, temperament and ability to carry 
out investigations have been trained accordingly.   

  

Page 23



 
 
 
7. Cause for Concern, Near Misses and Notifications 

 
7.1. The reporting of Cause for Concern, Near Misses and Notifications is encouraged as part 

of a positive health and safety culture. 
 
7.2. A total of 77 Cause for Concern, Near Misses and Notifications were submitted this 

reporting year. Table 8 and figure 8 below, shows a comparison against previous years.  
 

 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Cause for Concern 25 25 17 16 19 

Near Miss 4 7 9 11 7 

Notification 50 61 42 58 51 
 

Table 8 Cause for Concerns, Near Misses and Notifications 2018/19 - 2022/23 

 

 

 
 

Figure 8 Cause for concerns, Near misses and Notifications 2018/19 - 2022/23 
 

7.3. Reporting of near misses and cause for concerns remains fairly static. During this year’s 
proactive health and safety visits the reporting of the above occurrences will be commended 
along with enforcing the correct reasoning and type of reporting. 

 
8. The National Picture 
 
8.1. The Home Office reports nationally on FRS statistics for operational adverse health and 

safety incidents. This allows us to compare performance against other FRS’s. 
 

8.2. The Home Office categorise all FRS in England as either ‘predominantly rural,’ 
‘predominantly urban’ or ‘significantly rural.’ CDDFRS is classed as ‘predominantly rural’ 
alongside another 13 FRS. 
 

8.3. A comparison of CDDFRS 2022/23 performance (operational figures only) against the 
most recent information available (fire statistics) for other FRS in England that have been 
categorised as ‘predominantly rural’ is outlined below 
 
 

25 25

17 16
19

4
7 9 11

7

50

61

42

58

51

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Cause for concerns, Near misses & Notifications
2018/19 - 2022/23

Cause for concerns Near misses Notifications

Page 24

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-data-tables#workforce-and-workforce-diversity


 
 
 

a) Vehicle Accidents: 
 

 
 

Figure 9 vehicle accidents for the FRS classified as predominantly rural recorded during the 2019/20 reporting period 
against CDDFRS 2022/23 performance. 

 

b) Personal accidents:  
 

 
 

Figure 10 personal accidents for the FRS (Operational staff only) classified as predominantly rural recorded during the 
2019/20 reporting period against CDDFRS 2022/23 performance. 
 
 

 
8.4. The Service continues to represent the region at the NFCC Health and Safety Group, 

relaying all relevant information to the Regional Health and Safety Group, working 
collaboratively on several work streams to include: 
 

 Contaminant’s initiatives and positive sharing of policy/procedure and best practice 
 

 Internal auditing of Health and Safety principles in neighbouring services and 
alignment to industry standards  
(HSG 65) 

 

140

65
52 52

44 44 43

25 25 22 21 21
11

0
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Vehicle accidents for 'predominantly rural' FRS

60

34 32
22 20 20

15 12 8 8 7 6 2 0
0

10
20
30
40
50
60
70

Personal accidents for 'predominantly rural' FRS

Page 25



 
 
 
 
9. Summary  
 
9.1. Personal accidents have decreased for this reporting year. Cause for Concerns and Near 

Miss’ are broadly similar to previous periods. A large increase in vehicle accidents have 
been reported, predominantly from a spike within the summer months. Work is underway 
to prevent such an occurrence in 2023/24. 
 

9.2. Overall performance regarding Health and Safety continues to be of a good standard. This 
is evidenced through considering the current available National data.  
 

9.3. H&S continue to work in line with and work toward strategy. A focus on improving H&S 
culture remains a focus along with embedding an audit system/process, investigation 
training, H&S training at various levels, further decontamination development via the 
Contaminant Working Group and investigation opportunities to improve overall performance 
(PI’s).  
 

9.4. For 2023/24 our performance indicators remain as: 
 

 Total Number of personal accidents. 

 Number of vehicle accidents classified as CDDFRS driver's fault; 

 Number of local health and safety investigations incomplete after 28 days; 

 Number of health and safety investigation actions overdue their specified completion 
date. 
 

9.5. Targets are based on a calculated average of last 5 years performance with a deduction of 
5%.  
 

9.6. There have been six RIDDOR reported incidents in 2022/23, all of which were due to over 
seven-day absences. 
 

9.7. Contaminants Working Group have carried out an evaluation of the BA wash Facility and 
Decontamination Process.  This evaluation has provided the group with tangible data to 
identify areas for improvement and areas of good practice. 
 

9.8. The CWG have developed a 3-year workplan aligned to the current NFCC position 
statement regarding fire fighter decontamination.  Areas for consideration include: 

 Estates improvement  

 PPE and cleaning arrangements 

 Culture awareness and change 

 Vehicles and fleet 

 Communications 

 Training 
 

 
10. Recommendations 

 
10.1. SLT members are requested to: 

 
a) Consider and comment on the content of this report. 
b) Continue to support a positive health and safety culture in CDDFRS. 

 

Page 26



 
 

 

 
 
Human Resources Committee 
 
16 May 2023 
 
Private Medical Care 
 
Report of Director of People and Organisational Development 
 
Purpose of the report  
 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Human Resources Committee with details of the 
potential benefits to the Service of utilising private medical care or interventions to 
proactively reduce sickness absence. 

 
Background 
 

2. The effective management of absence is a key performance issue for any organisation. 
This is particularly important when operating in a climate of reduced financial and human 
resources.  Long term sickness can have a significant impact on the functionality of the 
business in certain areas and is becoming increasing difficult to cover in the current 
environment.   

 
3. A Modified Duties Procedure is in place.  Whilst the Service is supportive of modified duties, 

this is not a long-term solution to absence management; additional roles within the Service 
cannot be created and sustained as this puts additional pressures on budgets.   

 
4. There are delays in diagnosis and treatment plans because of waiting lists in the NHS as 

well as significant waiting times for surgery following from the impacts of Covid-19. Support 
is being given to those who are awaiting medical intervention however, the impacts of these 
delays can be noted in our rise to long term absence.  Delays in diagnosis and treatment 
further impact on the ill health retirement process and subsequent capability process.   

 
5. The Service is currently working with the respective trade unions to introduce new 

innovative ways of working to continue to reduce absence levels.  Improving efficiency 
through reduced absence helps reduce costs without reducing staff numbers. Long term 
absence is challenging to reduce particularly in those cases where staff are employed as 
operational firefighters. 
 

Private Medical Care Provisions 
 

6. The main benefit of providing a limited degree of private medical care for staff will be the 
reduced waiting times for treatment which could ultimately result in a speedier return to full 
duties. It may also offer employees specialist referrals to an expert who may be able to 
prescribe drugs and treatments not available on the NHS.  

 

 

Safest People, Safest Places 

 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



 
 

7. Waiting times for treatment via the NHS vary; they are currently stable where treatment is 
a priority. However, waiting times for some members of staff who have illnesses of lesser 
priority can, at times, be lengthy.  Currently the Service has several employees, either 
working on sickness absence or modified duties, who have been awaiting treatment on the 
NHS for some considerable time, some over 12 months.   

8. Depending upon what treatment is required, the cost of providing either modified duties and 
the operational cover required could significantly outweigh the cost to pay for the private 
medical care intervention.    

Current Provision of Services 

9. The Service offers alternative health benefits to its employees in terms of a physiotherapy 
provision, counselling, occupational health care and were recommended by the 
Occupational Health Doctor, cognitive behavioral therapies.   
 

10. All employees also have access to the recuperation and rehabilitation facilities provided by 
the Firefighters Charity where they can receive targeted and intense treatment free of 
charge.   

 
The Process 
 

11. Access to private medical care and treatment would be restricted.  Cases where an early 
intervention would promote a rapid return to work or where the employee had key skills; 
whether the employee is employed in an operational or support role, that would be lost 
during a prolonged absence would be considered by the Long-Term Sickness Review Panel 
(LTSRP) which would be Chaired by the Director of People of Organisational Development.  

 
12. The LTSRP would assess and prioritise the needs of the Service against the needs of the 

employee in addition to the costs versus benefits of the treatment they require.  For 
example, to maintain operational staffing levels or key support functions, cover 
arrangements may be utilised which will incur an additional cost to the Service.  If the cost 
of treatment is relatively low, the benefit of having the employee back at work on full duties 
would be greater.   
 

13. Each case would be considered on an individual basis and dependent upon the Service’s 
needs at that point in time.  Consideration will also be given to the efforts the individual has 
made to return to full duties and their willingness to contribute to the private health care 
provision.  Employees would not be able to request such medical care; it would be the 
responsibility of the LTSRP to recommend that the treatment is considered. The LTSRP 
would prepare a report for consideration by the Chief Fire Officer in consultation with the 
Deputy Chief Executive detailing:  

 
a) Cause of absence. 
b) Current length of absence. 
c) Predicted return to duty date. 
d) Sickness history of the individual. 
e) Operational and financial implications to the Service due to absence. 
f) Cost of treatment. 
g) Predicted return date if private medical care intervention is carried out. 
h) Employee contribution to medical costs. 

 
14. In addition, the report will provide details of the implications of the cost of the medical 

treatment on the occupational health budget and the recommendation of the LTSRP.   
 

15. As each case would be considered on its merits, including the effect on the overall Service 
objectives, approval of one case will not set a precedent for other cases.  

Page 28



 
 

 
16. Any additional medical support which is approved, along with the outcomes from the 

treatment, will be reported through to the Human Resources Committee as part of the 
quarterly absence management report. 

 
Recommendation 
 

17. Members are asked to note and comment on the contents of this report.  
 

Katherine Metcalfe, Director of People and Organisational Development, Ext.5665 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
Safest People, Safest Places 

 
 
Human Resources Committee 
 
16 May 2023  
 
Values and Culture in Fire and Rescue Services Spotlight Report 
 
Report of Director of People and Organisational Development 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Human Resources Committee of the outcomes 

of His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) 
Values and Culture Report and the internal review of County Durham and Darlington Fire 
and Rescue Services (CDDFRS) practices against the recommendations made.   

 
Background 
 
2. On the 30 March 2023, the HMICFRS released its spotlight report “Values and Culture in 

Fire and Rescue Services” (appendix B) which was commissioned by The Minister of State 
for Crime, Policing and Fire. The report draws on the evidence collected through all 
inspections since 2018 and recent data requests around the handling of misconduct cases 
and background checks of current and new employees.   

 
3. It highlights there are still a significant number of services who are graded as requires 

improvement or inadequate in values and culture and fairness and diversity which is a stark 
warning for the sector with two Services put into enhanced monitoring.  

 
4. Recent allegations against staff in several services, which have been featured in the media, 

are both shocking and saddening and have quite rightly, heightened public, sector and staff 
awareness and concerns about these issues. It is only right that higher standards are 
demanded in organisations like our own who have a responsibility to keep the public safe, 
and where public trust and confidence are so important. 

 
5. This paper gives an overview of the findings and sets out a gap analysis of CDDFRS ways 

of working and initiatives to outline our current position and identify any areas of risk and 
improvement.   

 
Report Overview 
 
6. The report highlights that across the sector, over half of all complaints made are linked to 

inappropriate behaviour and bullying and harassment.  It also highlights that background 
checks undertaken for new and existing staff are insufficient and more worryingly, it raises 
a common theme across the sector that staff are afraid to raise concerns due to fear of 
reprisal.   

 
 
7. The report concluded the following: 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 

a) Improvements in some services’ values aren’t always reflected in staff behaviours. 
b) Bullying, harassment and discrimination are, to varying degrees, still problems in 

all services. 
c) Subgroups, including watches, can foster unacceptable behaviours and poor 

cultures. 
d) Staff can feel unable to challenge or report poor behaviours and need a secure 

way to raise concerns. 
e) Background checks of fire and rescue service staff need to improve to reduce risk 

of harm to both staff and the public. 
f) Allegations of misconduct should be handled appropriately. 
g) Supervisors and middle managers need to be better trained in how to effectively 

manage, develop and support their staff as well as more widely in equality, 
diversity and inclusion. 

h) Most services need to do more to improve their equality, diversity and inclusion. 
i) Progression opportunities limit diversity in leadership teams. 

8. The review set out 34 recommendations which focused on the following key areas: 

 
a) Raising Concerns 
b) Background Checks 
c) Misconduct Handling 
d) Leadership 
e) Management and Leadership Training and Development 
f) Diversity Data 
g) Improving Diversity 
h) The Core Code of Ethics 
i) The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

 
 
9. A gap analysis has been undertaken (appendix A) which outlines the Service position within 

these areas which have been RAG rated to help prioritise actions.  It is acknowledged that 
there is always more to do and improvements to be made to any process or ways of working 
however the key objective of the analysis is to highlight any immediate actions required and 
provide some assurance to members of the Services position with regards to the 
recommendations.   

 
Conclusion 
 
11. Much like the LFB report, the HMICFRS report makes for difficult reading. The reported 

incidents of bullying, harassment and victimisation across the country are extremely 
concerning and there is no place for such behaviour or attitudes within the fire and rescue 
sector and our own Service.  The report highlights the need to see change across several 
areas but mostly about creating an inclusive environment underpinned by its values and 
behaviours. The Service are committed to driving and creating a fair and supportive working 
environment and is a key theme for our People Strategy 2023 /26.   

 
12. The Service is well placed to address several of the recommendations with already 

established and well embedded processes in place such as background checks, 
confidential reporting lines, policies and procedures and undertaking staff engagement 
activities however there are a few areas identified where we can strengthen.   

 
13. Our recent HMICFRS inspection report graded the Service as ‘Good’ overall in the People 

Pillar and ‘Good’ in all four sub diagnostics.  It noted the service has well-defined values 
that are understood by all staff, the Core Code of Ethics has been implemented, we have 
supportive wellbeing initiatives, good health and safety processes and more importantly 
staff are confident in the service’s approach to tackling bullying, harassment and 

Page 32



 
 
 

discrimination and disciplinary matters.  Whilst the inspection process is not an in-depth 
review, it gives the Committee some assurance that our processes relating to People and 
Culture are working and embedded. 

 
14.  Updates on progress against the action plan outlined in appendix A will be reported to the 

Committee on a regular basis..     

Recommendations 

15.      Members are requested to: 

(a) note and comment on the content of the report.  

 

Katherine Metcalfe, Director of People and Organisational Development, Ext.5665 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 33



 
 
 

HMICFRS Values and Culture in Fire and Rescue Services  

 

No. Recommendation Owner Due Date Status Progress 

 Raising Concerns     

1 By 1 October 2023, chief fire officers should 
make sure their services provide a confidential 
way for staff to raise concerns and that staff are 
aware of whistleblowing processes. 

CDDFRS 1 Oct 23 Complete April 23 
Independent complaints service available via 
DCC (Whistleblowing).  Staff can report 
incidents anonymously with no fear of the 
repercussions. 
Independent reporting Service through 
Safecall  
Raising a Concern at Work procedure in place 
 

2 By 1 October 2023, National Employers, the 
Local Government Association and the National 
Fire Chiefs Council should review any current 
independent arrangements whereby staff can 
raise concerns outside their FRS. They should 
then ensure that all FRS staff have access to 
an independent reporting line that can be used 
as a confidential way to raise concerns outside 
their own FRS. 

National 
Employers, 
LGA, NFCC 

1 Jun 23 Not 
owned by 
CDDFRS 

CDDFRA and CDDFRS will fully engage and 
support the delivery of this recommendation 

3 By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should 
review the support available for those who have 
raised concerns and take any action needed to 
make sure these provisions are suitable. 

CDDFRS 1 Jun 23 Ongoing April 23 
Robust Dignity at Work and Fairness at Work 
Policy and Procedure in place (which are 
utilised) and allow for staff to move locality or 
perpetrators to be suspended.   
Dignity at Work Advisors in place (posters and 
online) 
Suicide prevention officers in place (posters 
and online) 
Mental Health First Aiders in place (posters 
and online) 

P
age 34



 
 
 

Welfare officers appointed to both parties as 
support (details included in correspondence).  
Access to Employee Assistance is advised 
through correspondence.   
Option for external investigation where 
required.   
Union support made available for members. 
Code of Ethics implemented and integrated.  
EDI training for managers via e-learning and 
face to face learning included in Leadership 
Programmes.   
 

4 By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should 
assure themselves that updates on how 
concerns are being handled are shared with 
those who have raised them. The updates 
should be given in an accessible way that 
encourages trust and confidence in the service 
response. Consideration should be given to 
creating professional standards function to 
handle conduct concerns in service (or from an 
external service) to have oversight of cases, to 
make sure they are conducted in a fair and 
transparent way and to act as a point of contact 
for all staff involved. 

CDDFRS 1 Jun 23 Ongoing April 23 
Independent reporting Service through 
Safecall offers an online platform where 
concerns are shared, and updates are given 
both ways.  
Welfare officers appointed to both parties as 
support (details included in correspondence).   
They can be used to gain updates.  
Both parties are advised who is the IO and so 
can contact they for updates  
Dignity at work advisors are available to 
support either party. 
External investigations can be undertaken. 
ER register kept outlining the concern raised 
and any outcomes / appeal.   
Professional Standards department not 
deemed as feasible due to ongoing budgetary 
pressures.  Could be re-evaluated if a high 
number of complaints are made. 
 

5 By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should make 
sure they provide accessible information for all 
staff and members of the public on how they 

CDDFRS 1 Jun 23 Ongoing April 23 
 
External complaints (from public) 

P
age 35



 
 
 

can raise concerns and access confidential 
support (including through external agencies). 
Chief fire officers should also make sure 
accessible information is provided on how 
concerns and allegations will be investigated in 
a way that ensures confidentiality and is 
independent of the alleged perpetrator. 

 

 Clear procedure in place (AD/2/11). 

 Complaints can be made by a range of 
different methods (social media, online, 
in writing, telephone). 

 There is an accessible leaflet available 
advising how complaints will be treated.   

 Complaints are all recorded on the web 
form and the data is stored securely 
with only designated people having 
access.   

 Generally, complains are handled 
internally however, there are route to 
externally investigate should the need 
arise.   

 There have been no complaints or 
concerns raised with the 
professionalism of our staff when 
undertaking HFSC’s.   

 
Internal complaints (from Staff) 

 

 Clear procedures for Fairness at Work 
and Dignity at Work are in place. 

 Dignity at Work Advisors in place 
(posters and online) 

 Suicide prevention officers in place 
(posters and online) 

 Mental Health First Aiders in place 
(posters and online) 

 Welfare officers appointed to both 
parties as support (details included in 
correspondence).  

 Access to Employee Assistance is 
advised through correspondence.   

P
age 36



 
 
 

 Option for external investigation where 
required. 

 

 Background Checks     

6 By 1 January 2024, the Home Office, working 
with the Ministry of Justice, should make sure 
that the Government incorporates fire and 
rescue authority employees within the 
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 
(Exceptions) Order 1975 so that they are 
eligible for the appropriate DBS checks. 

Home 
Office 

1 May 24 Not 
Owned by 
CDDFRS 

CDDFRA and CDDFRS will fully engage and 
support the delivery of this recommendation 

7 By 1 May 2024, the Home Office, working with 
the fire and rescue sector, should make sure 
that the Police Act 1997 (Criminal Records) 
Regulations 2002, or a similar appropriate 
legislatively enabled solution, makes detailed 
provisions for fire and rescue services. 

Home 
Office 

1 May 24 Not 
Owned by 
CDDFRS 

CDDFRA and CDDFRS will fully engage and 
support the delivery of this recommendation 

8 By 1 December 2023, the Fire Standards 
Board, in liaison with the National Fire Chiefs 
Council, should review the existing relevant 
standard(s) and underpinning guidance. It 
should: 
 

 clearly state the requirements for 
background checks undertaken by 
services; 

 clarify the minimum requirements 
(including levels of DBS checks) for all 
roles, particularly roles where staff have 
access to vulnerable members of the 
public; 

 define the standards required to embed 
a culture across fire and rescue 
services that empowers all members of 

Fire 
Standards 
Board 

1 Dec 23 Not 
Owned by 
CDDFRS 

CDDFRA and CDDFRS will fully engage and 
support the delivery of this recommendation 

P
age 37



 
 
 

staff and local communities to report 
concerns; and 

 be subject to review following any 
legislative change. 

9 By 1 January 2024, chief fire officers should: 
 

 immediately review their current 
background checks arrangements, and 
make sure that suitable and sufficient 
background checks are in place to 
safeguard their staff and communities 
they serve; and 

 make sure that appropriate DBS 
check requests have been submitted 
for all existing, new staff, and 
volunteers, according to their roles 
as identified by the Fire Standards 
Board 

CDDFRS 1 Jan 24 Complete April 23 
Baseline personal security checks are 
undertaken on all prospective employees to 
safeguard the Service and the communities it 
serves.  
The checks that are undertaken prior to 
employment with the Service are Identity, 
Qualification, references (minimum 2 years), 
medical, DBS (where appropriate), right to 
work in the United Kingdom. 
We undertake a basic DBS check on all 
prospective staff at the point of entry 
regardless of role. 
We undertake enhanced DBS checks for those 
working in Community safety teams and with 
our cadets. 
 

10 By 1 September 2023, chief constables should 
make sure they are appropriately using their 
Common Law Police Disclosure powers in 
circumstances involving employees of fire and 
rescue services. 

Police 1 Sep 23 Not 
Owned by 
CDDFRS 

CDDFRA and CDDFRS will fully engage and 
support the delivery of this recommendation 

11 By 1 December 2023, the Fire Standards 
Board, in liaison with the National Fire Chiefs 
Council, should review the existing relevant 
standard(s) and supporting guidance to clearly 
state how services should handle staff 
disclosures, complaints and grievances. 

Fire 
Standards 
Board 

1 Dec 23 Not 
Owned by 
CDDFRS 

CDDFRA and CDDFRS will fully engage and 
support the delivery of this recommendation 

12 By 1 March 2024, chief fire officers should 
provide assurances to HMICFRS that they 

CDDFRS 1 Mar 24 Not 
started 

April 23 
Awaiting Standard to be released 

P
age 38



 
 
 

have implemented the standard on staff 
disclosure, complaint and grievance handling. 

Current process for fire standard 
implementation sits with the Project Board and 
Project Assurance Manager.  Once available, 
the process for FS implementation will be 
actioned.  
All completed standards are agreed by SLT.   
 

13 By 1 December 2023, the Fire Standards 
Board, in liaison with the National Fire Chiefs 
Council, should review the existing relevant 
standard(s) and supporting guidance to clearly 
state how services should handle misconduct 
and safeguarding-related allegations and 
outcomes. These should include requirements 
to: 
 

 conduct and complete investigations, 
whether or not the staff member under 
investigation leaves; 

 consider whether the incident requires 
immediate dismissal; 

 provide training for staff who are 
carrying out investigations; and 

ensure the diversity/neutrality of the 
investigation panel/person. 

Fire 
Standards 
Board 

1 Dec 23 Not 
Owned by 
CDDFRS 

CDDFRA and CDDFRS will fully engage and 
support the delivery of this recommendation 

14 By 1 March 2024, chief fire officers should 
provide assurances to HMICFRS that they 
have implemented the standard on misconduct 
allegations and outcomes handling. 

CDDFRS 1 Mar 24 Not 
Started 

April 23 
Awaiting standard to be released. 
Current process for fire standard 
implementation sits with the Project Board and 
Project Assurance Manager.  Once available, 
the process for FS implementation will be 
actioned.  
All completed standards are agreed by SLT.   
 P

age 39



 
 
 
15 By 1 October 2023, the Home Office should 

work with the National Fire Chiefs Council and 
fire and rescue service employers to make sure 
there is a process to handle misconduct 
allegations against chief fire officers. The Home 
Office should immediately notify HMICFRS of 
any allegations and outcomes that it is aware 
of. 

Home 
Office 

1 Oct 23 Not 
Owned by 
CDDFRS 

CDDFRA and CDDFRS will fully engage and 
support the delivery of this recommendation 

16 By 1 October 2023, the National Fire Chiefs 
Council should develop and manage a national 
barred list that holds details of staff who have 
been dismissed for gross misconduct (including 
staff who have already left services). It should 
ensure that this list is referred to in all 
appointment processes to prevent those who 
are barred from re-joining another service. After 
the College of Fire and Rescue has been 
estab1lished (see recommendation 25), it 
should take responsibility for managing the list 

NFCC 1 Oct 23 Not 
Owned by 
CDDFRS 

CDDFRA and CDDFRS will fully engage and 
support the delivery of this recommendation 

17 With immediate effect, chief fire officers should 
notify HMICFRS of any allegations that have 
the potential to constitute staff gross 
misconduct that: 
 

 involve allegations of a criminal nature 
that have the potential to affect public 
confidence in FRSs; 

 are of a serious nature; or 
relate to assistant chief fire officers or those at 
equivalent or higher grades 

CDDFRS Immediate Complete We will comply with this requirement with 
immediate effect in providing disclosures in 
line with the non-identifiable case histories 
provided previously to HMICFRS. We are 
seeking clarification from HMICFRS on any 
more detailed reporting it requires, to enable 
us to ensure that we are also compliant with 
our GDPR obligations 

18 By 1 August 2023, chief fire officers should 
provide assurances to HMICFRS that all parties 
are supported in relation to ongoing 
investigations 

CDDFRS 1 Aug 23 Ongoing April 23 
As outlined in recommendation 10. 

P
age 40



 
 
 
19 By 1 July 2023, the Home Office should 

examine whether any appeal processes for fire 
and rescue misconduct cases are appropriate. 

Home 
Office 

1 Jul 23 Not 
Owned by 
CDDFRS 

CDDFRA and CDDFRS will fully engage and 
support the delivery of this recommendation 

 Leadership     

20 By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should have 
plans in place to ensure they meet the Fire 
Standards Board’s leading the service standard 
and its leading and developing people 
standard. 

CDDFRS 1 Jul 
23 

Ongoing April 23 
Current process for fire standard 
implementation sits with the Project Board and 
Project Assurance Manager.   
The Director of POD has been designated as 
the SPOC for both standards. 
All completed standards are agreed by SLT.   
 

21 By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should make 
sure there is a full, 360-degree feedback 
process in place for all senior leaders and 
managers (assistant chief fire officer equivalent 
and above) in service. 

CDDFRS 1 Jun 23 Complete April 23 
A 360 process is part of the current appraisal 
process for all staff including PO’s.   
As part of wider SLT development / team 
building plans, a further 360 feedback process 
will be undertaken utilising the Johari Window 
tool and linked to i3 and supportive leadership.   
 

22 By 1 September 2023, chief fire officers should 

make sure there is a full, 360‑degree feedback 
process in place for all other leaders and 
managers in service. The process should 
include gathering feedback from a wide range 
of sources including colleagues and direct 
reports. 

CDDFRS 1 Sep 23 Complete April 23 
A 360 process is part of the current appraisal 
process for all staff including PO’s.   
Procedure include the requirement for peer 
feedback. 
 

23 By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should seek 
regular feedback from staff about values, 
culture, fairness and diversity, with due regard 
to the leading and developing people standard. 
They should show how they act on this 
feedback. 

CDDFRS 1 Jun 23 Complete April 23 
The Service undertake a staff survey which 
focusses on values, culture, and behaviours.  
Call it out survey. 
HMICFRS staff survey 
Station visits / Manager 121’s 
Station audits  / Debriefs 
Staff networks 

P
age 41



 
 
 

Safe Call data 
Exit interview data.  
 

24 By 1 October 2023, chief fire officers should put 
plans in place to monitor, including through the 
gathering and analysis of staff feedback, watch 
and team cultures and provide prompt remedial 
action for any issues they identify. 

CDDFRS 1 Oct 23 Complete April 23 
Station visits / Manager 121’s 
Staff Surveys (include locality and line 
manager/colleague related questions) 
Watch focus groups. 
SLT action plans (improvement & strategy) – 
monitored via CFA 

 
 

 Management and leadership training and development     

25 By 1 January 2025, the Government should 
establish a College of Fire and Rescue, as 
proposed by the White Paper Reforming our 
Fire and Rescue Service. There should be no 
further delay to its implementation. 

Government 1 Jan 25 Not 
Owned by 
CDFRS 

CDDFRA and CDDFRS will fully engage and 
support the delivery of this recommendation 

26 By 1 October 2023, as a precursor to the 
development of the College of Fire and 
Rescue, chief fire officers and the National Fire 
Chiefs Council should work with the Home 
Office to consider how they can improve the 
training and support they offer to staff in 
management and leadership development. This 
should include authority members in respect of 
their assurance leadership roles and should 
ensure that opportunities are offered fairly 
across all staff groups. 

NFCC 1 Oct 23 Not 
Owned by 
CDFRS 

CDDFRA and CDDFRS will fully engage and 
support the delivery of this recommendation 

27 By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should make 
sure their equality impact assessments are fit 
for purpose and, as a minimum, meet the 
requirements of the National Fire Chiefs 
Council equality impact assessment toolkit. 
 

CDDFRS 1 Jun 23 Complete April 23 
A review of CDDFRS process was undertaken 
in 2022 and aligned to the NFCC toolkit.   
EqIA’s are complete and actions are monitored 
through the ED&I working group.   

P
age 42



 
 
 

EqIA’s have been complete for all Service 
premises to ensure inclusivity.   
 

28 By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should 
review how they gather and use equality and 
diversity data to improve their understanding of 
their staff demographics, including applying and 
meeting the requirements of the National Fire 
Chiefs Council equality, diversity and inclusion 
data toolkit. 

CDDFRS 1 Jun 23 Ongoing April 23 
Public sector equality duty 
Gender pay gap 
Home office annual returns 
HMICFRS PowerBi reports 
Recruitment monitoring 
 

29 By 1 December 2023, the Home Office should 
publish greater detail on the protected 
characteristic data it collects about FRS staff, 
including joiners and leavers, by rank and role. 

Home 
Office 

1 Dec 23 Not 
owned by 
CDDFRS 

CDDFRA and CDDFRS will fully engage and 
support the delivery of this recommendation 

30 By 30 December 2024, the Home Office should 
align the data it collects on protected 
characteristics with the Office for National 
Statistics harmonised standard and publish this 
data. 

Home 
Office 

30 Dec 24 Not 
owned by 
CDDFRS 

CDDFRA and CDDFRS will fully engage and 
support the delivery of this recommendation 

31 By 1 December 2024, the Home Office should 
collect and publish experimental statistics on 
public complaints and conduct matters in 
relation to FRS staff, similar to that which it 
currently publishes on police forces in England 
and Wales. 

Home 
Office 

1 Dec 24 Not 
owned by 
CDDFRS 

CDDFRA and CDDFRS will fully engage and 
support the delivery of this recommendation 

 Improving Diversity     

32 By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should, as a 
priority, specify in succession plans how they 
intend to improve diversity across all levels of 
the service. This should include offering 
increased direct-entry opportunities. 
 

CDDFRS 1 June 23 Ongoing April 23 
This is addressed through the People Strategy, 
ED&I Strategy, Strategic Workforce Plan & 
Talent Management Strategy.   
Succession planning arrangements are in place 
which include Team plans.   
Direct entry opportunities will be considered at 
SM level once the current programme provides 
ROI information and deliverables.   

P
age 43



 
 
 

Direct entry at CFO level has been facilitated. 
 

33 By 1 August 2023, chief fire officers should 
develop plans to promote progression paths for 
existing staff in non-operational roles and put 
plans in place to reduce any inequalities of 
opportunity. 

CDDFRS 1 Aug 23 Complete April 23 
Development plans are available and in place 
to align green book / non operational 
colleagues the same training opportunities as 
uniformed staff which is relevant to their role 

 Core Code of Ethics     

34 
 

With immediate effect, chief fire officers should 
review their implementation of the Core Code 
of Ethics and make sure it is being applied 
across their services. 
 

CDDFRS 
 

Immediate 
 

Complete  

 The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England     

35 By the end of this Parliament, the Government 
should consider the findings and 
recommendations in this report when refreshing 
the Fire and Rescue National Framework for 
England. 

Government End of 
this 
parliament 

Not 
owned by 
CDDFRS 

CDDFRA and CDDFRS will fully engage and 
support the delivery of this recommendation 

 

Dashboard of Recommendations  

 

Total Number of Recommendations  35 

 
Owner Breakdown 
 

CDDFRS 19 

Fire Standards Board 3 

Government 2 

Home Office 7 

National Employers, LGA, NFCC 1 

Police 1 

NFCC 2 

P
age 44



 
 
 
 
CDDFRS Progress 
 

Complete 10 

Ongoing 7 

Not Started  2 

 

P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Values and culture in fire and 

rescue services

Page 47



 

 i 

Contents 

Scope 1 

Foreword 3 

Our recommendations 9 

Summary 17 

Defining the problem 20 

Methodology 23 

Our findings 25 

Improvements in some services’ values aren’t always reflected in staff 

behaviours 25 

Bullying, harassment and discrimination are, to varying degrees, still 

problems in all services 26 

Subgroups, including watches, can foster unacceptable behaviours and poor 

cultures 27 

Staff need a secure way to raise concerns 31 

Background checks of fire and rescue service staff need to improve to reduce 

risk of harm to both staff and the public 33 

A positive culture is created in services where the leadership is visible, 

transparent and fair 38 

Supervisors and middle managers need to be better trained in how to 

effectively manage, develop and support their staff 40 

Most services need to do more to improve their equality, diversity and  

inclusion 42 

Progression opportunities limit diversity in leadership teams 50 

National work is supporting fire service improvements 53 

Conclusion 56 

Page 48



 

 1 

Scope 

This report focuses on the values and culture of all 44 fire and rescue services (FRSs) 

in England and draws on the evidence collected through our inspections of FRSs 

since 2018. We define values as principles or standards of behaviour, and culture as 

ideas, customs and behaviours. We define ‘poor’, ‘unacceptable’ and ‘inappropriate’ 

cultures and behaviours as those which have or have the potential to negatively 

affect others. These behaviours include bullying, harassment and discrimination.  

We have particularly focused on issues that have been seen in more than half (at least 

26) of FRSs and are having a detrimental impact across the sector. These include: 

• bullying, harassment, and discrimination; 

• lack of fairness and diversity; and 

• reporting and handling of concerns, including allegations of misconduct. 

We know that the culture in an FRS can be heavily influenced by the behaviour of 

individuals, including those in positions of senior responsibility. We have, therefore, 

reviewed the competence of leaders from station level to chief fire officers in 

all services. This includes how they are trained and developed and how they behave. 

We have reviewed the training given to managers and staff to help them perform their 

roles effectively. Those who oversee FRSs’ performance – including elected members 

of fire and rescue authorities and police, fire and crime commissioners – have a 

responsibility for scrutinising services and making sure they promote positive cultures. 

It is vitally important that services promote equality, diversity and inclusion in the 

workplace to make sure they are as fair and diverse as possible. When equality, 

diversity and inclusion are incorporated well into a service, staff feel included, valued 

and able to speak freely. This creates a positive professional culture in which staff can 

provide a safe and effective service for the public. 

This report examines what is working well, what needs to change and the barriers to 

making improvements. 

To help services to improve and learn from each other, we have highlighted some 

examples of promising and innovative practices we found during our inspections.  

Page 49



 

 2 

We use: 

• promising practice to describe activities that we found to be working well in a 

service where there are positive measurable outcomes which have been observed 

or monitored; 

• innovative practice to describe new ways of working in a service that may not have 

been formally evaluated but that have the potential to produce more positive 

outcomes but haven’t been subject to any testing or monitoring. 

Page 50

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/promising-practice/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/innovative-practice/


 

 3 

Foreword 

Fire and rescue services (FRSs) carry out a vital public service, helping people in our 

communities every day. But since we started inspecting them in 2018, we have 

repeatedly found evidence of poor values, culture and behaviour, including bullying, 

harassment and discrimination, in many of the 44 FRSs in England. 

While some services have made some improvements since our first round of 

inspections in respect of values and culture, too many need to do more. It is well 

documented that compassionate and fair working cultures are vital to staff well-being, 

productivity, efficiency, retention and motivation. 

I, therefore, welcome the commissioning of this spotlight report by the Minister of State 

for Crime, Policing and Fire. It is an opportunity to pay much-needed attention to this 

area and to take action to improve the values, culture, fairness and diversity of FRSs 

which are still so clearly in urgent need of change. 

We have repeatedly expressed concerns that the culture evident in too many FRSs is 

unacceptable and needs to change. This led us to recommend that the sector should 

have a code of ethics. The code was developed by the Fire Standards Board in 

partnership with the Local Government Association and the Association of Police and 

Crime Commissioners. The Fire Standards Board published the code in May 2021. 

Some individuals within the sector have argued that such behaviours are confined to 

‘pockets’ of services. We disagree. In previous reports, we have described how some 

of what we found is toxic. We have been criticised by some for using this language. 

Again, we disagree. Our evidence shows that such concerns are widespread, and this 

report brings together evidence from a number of sources. 

As an independent inspectorate, when we believe services or their senior leaders are 

failing to demonstrate and promote positive values and cultures, we will continue to 

bring this to the public’s attention. 

Between February 2021 and August 2022, we carried out our second full round 

of inspections. Based on our findings on values and culture, we issued: 

• causes of concern to five services; 

• requires improvement or inadequate grades to 17 services; and 

• 66 areas for improvement across 35 services.  

Page 51

https://www.firestandards.org/
https://www.local.gov.uk/
https://apccs.police.uk/
https://apccs.police.uk/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/cause-of-concern/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/fire-and-rescue-services/how-we-inspect-fire-and-rescue-services/#judgments


 

 4 

On the basis of our findings on fairness and diversity, we issued: 

• causes of concern to five services; 

• requires improvement or inadequate grades to 26 services; and 

• 72 areas for improvement across 32 services. 

Even services that we have graded as good in these areas have some staff who 

behave inappropriately. Therefore, the service can still be issued with an area 

for improvement. Grades represent a snapshot of evidence that was available to 

us at a point in time. And, of course, inspection may not uncover every instance 

of inappropriate behaviour, such as bullying, harassment and discrimination. 

This spotlight report has helped us to review these issues in greater detail and in a 

more systemic way than individual FRS inspections ordinarily allow us to. 

Between 28 June 2018 and 1 February 2023, we received 842 submissions to our 

independent reporting line from staff in every single service in England. A substantial 

number (218) of them related to these themes. 

In February 2023, we asked every service to give us information about all allegations 

of gross misconduct currently under investigation or consideration from the last year. 

We also asked for cases of alleged misconduct and other grievances and complaints 

where the alleged behaviour of individuals calls into question the culture and values of 

the organisation. 

The information provided shows that inappropriate language/behaviour and bullying 

and harassment associated with a protected characteristic accounted for more than 

half of the cases. Almost half of the case information shared by services related to 

closed cases. Investigations into some of these cases resulted in: 

• approximately a quarter of individuals leaving the service, of which almost half left 

through retirement or resignation; and 

• police involvement in one in ten cases. 

Because the responses we received contained varying levels of detail, we aren’t 

confident that this presents a complete picture. We also have concerns about the 

adequacy of reporting, investigation and outcomes in respect of the handling of 

conduct and misconduct matters. It is important to note that just because a service 

has misconduct cases, it doesn’t necessarily mean its culture is poor. 

Services must make sure that they are psychologically safe places to work in. 

This includes offering secure ways for staff to raise concerns and give feedback, 

without fear of repercussion and in the knowledge that concerns and allegations will 

be robustly investigated. We believe that further inspection is required in this area. 

Our findings about two services (Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service and 

London Fire Brigade) were serious enough to contribute to their being placed in our 

‘engage’ enhanced monitoring process. Our inspection reports for these services were 

Page 52

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/fire-and-rescue-services/how-we-inspect-fire-and-rescue-services/independent-reporting-line/


 

 5 

published in July 2022. In late 2022, London Fire Brigade published a report 

Independent Culture Review of London Fire Brigade. The review’s disturbing findings, 

as well as recent media disclosures, have quite rightly heightened public, sector and 

staff awareness and concerns about these issues. 

Unacceptable behaviours sadly exist throughout society, and no workforce is 

completely immune to bullying, harassment and discrimination. But in those 

organisations with a responsibility to keep the public safe, and where public trust and 

confidence are so important, it is right that higher standards are demanded. There is 

no place in FRSs for any person who is unfit to fulfil a role that protects the public. 

Not only do communities need to be able to trust FRS staff, but in highly pressured 

scenarios and in a working environment where colleagues spend so much time 

together, staff need to be able to trust and depend on one another for their own safety. 

In recent years, there have been increasing concerns about the extent of shocking 

behaviour by police officers. Much of this behaviour, including the investigation into 

allegations of bullying and harassment at Charing Cross police station (Operation 

Hotton) attracted adverse media reporting. These, and many other incidents, have led 

many to conclude that a police culture of misogyny and predatory and improper 

behaviour has been allowed to develop and thrive. 

We reported on the link between organisational culture and ‘prejudicial and improper 

behaviour’ in policing in our 2022 report, An inspection of vetting, misconduct, and 

misogyny within the police service. 

The report defines prejudicial and improper behaviour as: 

“Any attitude and/or behaviour demonstrated by a police officer or police staff 

that could be reasonably considered to reveal misogyny, sexism, antipathy 

towards women or be an indication of, or precursor to, abuse of position for a 

sexual purpose.” 

While this definition relates to misogyny, for our purposes, we apply prejudicial and 

improper behaviour more broadly to cover all protected characteristics. The report 

contains examples of inappropriate behaviour, such as bullying, harassment and 

discrimination, towards both force staff and members of the public. It stated that: 

“During the inspection, we heard numerous examples, mainly from female police 

officers and staff, of such attitudes and behaviour towards them. This was usually, 

but not exclusively, from their male colleagues. When police officers and staff don’t 

treat colleagues with respect and courtesy, it suggests that they may be more likely 

to behave in a similar way towards the public and towards vulnerable women.” 

I have no reason to believe this link doesn’t also apply to fire services. This report 

contains examples of inappropriate behaviour, such as bullying, harassment and 

discrimination, towards both service staff and members of the public. 

Page 53

https://www.london-fire.gov.uk/about-us/independent-culture-review/
https://www.policeconduct.gov.uk/investigations/inappropriate-conduct-charing-cross-police-station-metropolitan-police
https://www.policeconduct.gov.uk/investigations/inappropriate-conduct-charing-cross-police-station-metropolitan-police
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-vetting-misconduct-and-misogyny-in-the-police-service/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-vetting-misconduct-and-misogyny-in-the-police-service/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/abuse-of-position-for-a-sexual-purpose/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/abuse-of-position-for-a-sexual-purpose/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/protected-characteristics/


 

 6 

Recent allegations against staff in several services, which have been featured in the 

media, are both shocking and saddening. These have only deepened my concern that 

we are looking at the tip of an iceberg. 

Posts by popular, albeit unofficial, fire and rescue-specific social media accounts 

appear to portray misogyny, racism and homophobia as banter. One Instagram 

account had over 7,500 followers at the time of writing this report (though at the time 

of publication it appears to have been deleted). While there is no way of knowing how 

many of these followers are current FRS staff, the account was aimed at firefighters, 

so it is fair to assume a substantial number of them were from services. This is 

concerning, considering there are only 44,350 FRS staff in total in England, 34,960 of 

which are firefighters. 

While following these accounts doesn’t mean that all members hold such views, 

membership implies support (at least tacit support) for such behaviours. I urge staff to 

think carefully about the message that this sends to their colleagues and the public. 

Societal norms and ‘laddish’ cultures are no excuse – bullying, harassment and 

discrimination have detrimental effects on staff, services and the communities 

they serve. 

The public trust emergency service staff with their lives and call for their support at 

times of greatest need; they have a right to expect a certain standard of behaviour 

from them. As Sir William Macpherson commented in the Stephen Lawrence Inquiry: 

“The argument that there is some excuse for poor behaviour because the culture of 

the Service can only be expected to mirror that of wider society and its behaviours, 

since that is from where we draw our personnel, is simply specious. We demand 

exemplary conduct from those we employ.” 

It is evident that the development of informal subcultures has led to staff being 

sometimes expected to conform to certain ways of thinking and behaving. This has led 

to the prevalence of ‘in groups’ and ‘out groups’ – for example, in some watch 

arrangements. We explain this in more detail in our section on subgroups. This need 

for conformity risks reducing space for or recognition of individual thought or personal 

preference; something we found aligns with the findings of our An inspection of 

vetting, misconduct, and misogyny within the police service report, where some 

female police officers and staff told us they felt they needed to acquiesce to prejudicial 

and improper behaviour. The findings also highlighted that people may be ostracised if 

they are seen to speak out against their peers. As we have said repeatedly, the 

culture across too much of the fire sector is stagnant and needs to be brought into the 

21st century. 

The lack of workforce diversity in every FRS throughout England also inhibits the 

ability to tackle these cultural issues. According to data gathered by the Cabinet Office 

in 2018, compared to other public sector staff, firefighters were the least ethnically 

diverse workforce. In the four years between 2014 and 2018, FRSs made the least 

improvement in diversity. 

Page 54

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-stephen-lawrence-inquiry
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/watch/


 

 7 

But FRSs should focus on more than just recruitment as a way of improving diversity. 

Making sure workplaces are inclusive for all and improving staff understanding of 

equality, diversity and inclusion will also help them to retain staff and to encourage 

those with talent and potential to progress through the organisation, irrespective of 

background. This is an essential building block to the cultural and behavioural 

improvements that are so clearly needed. 

The public has a right to know that not only will they receive an effective service from 

those working in FRSs but that the staff they encounter are safe and suitable to work, 

not only in terms of operational competence but also in respect of conduct. Our report 

An inspection of vetting, misconduct, and misogyny within the police service found that 

effective background checks can help prevent a culture of misogyny and predatory 

behaviour from developing and thriving. 

But currently, there are insufficient standards in relation to background checks 

for FRSs to follow, and there are no legal obligations for them to check new or 

existing staff. Although many FRSs do choose to carry out Disclosure and Barring 

Service checks, it is currently for services to decide if or how they conduct any 

background checks; this creates an unacceptable risk which must be addressed. 

The Independent Cultural Review of London Fire Brigade contains a worrying number 

of examples of appalling behaviour towards members of the public, including 

searching through women’s drawers looking for underwear and sex toys during home 

fire safety visits. We currently have no way of knowing how many unsuitable people 

are in these trusted roles, especially those that are public-facing. 

A recent review of FRS background check arrangements found that these varied from 

service to service. As a result, we have little assurance that all FRS staff, many of 

whom are working directly with some of society’s most vulnerable people, are safe 

and suitable to carry out these roles. The Fire Standards Board’s safeguarding 

standard states that FRSs must “implement appropriate and proportionate processes 

that minimise the risk of recruiting people who may be unsuitable to work with those 

who are at risk of harm”. Chief fire officers and the National Fire Chiefs Council have, 

in the past, called on the Government to introduce, as a minimum, Disclosure and 

Barring Service checks for all new staff; this is no longer simply desirable, it is an 

essential first step. 

Although consistent background check processes may not prevent all unsuitable 

individuals from working in FRSs, a statutory requirement and a background check 

standard are needed as a bare minimum to mitigate this issue and help services make 

informed decisions about who works for them. 

Some staff told us that they didn’t trust the processes for raising concerns and 

described a culture where they have been, or fear they will be, targeted because 

of reporting. This may mean that however good FRSs are at taking appropriate action 

to remedy concerns, including handling misconduct allegations appropriately, they 

might miss cases which should be investigated. 

Page 55

https://www.london-fire.gov.uk/about-us/independent-culture-review/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/home-fire-safety-check/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/home-fire-safety-check/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/safeguarding-fsd-pre02/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/safeguarding-fsd-pre02/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/


 

 8 

The recommendations made in this spotlight report are intended to assist FRSs 

to improve values, culture, fairness and diversity. Our recommendations are aimed 

at both national bodies that have the power to make changes and at FRSs. 

These recommendations and improved values and culture must also be supported 

by those organisations we don’t inspect, such as fire and rescue authorities and 

trade unions. 

I urge: 

• leaders of FRSs to accept the findings set out in this report and our service reports 

in full; 

• the relevant bodies to prioritise these recommendations; 

• national organisations with influence to consider how they can work with and 

support FRSs to act on the findings set out in this report; and 

• staff at every level of every FRS to reflect on our findings and take whatever 

personal steps necessary to treat those they work with, and members of the public, 

with the utmost dignity and respect. 

To the FRS staff who have shared their experiences with us: thank you. While it isn’t 

for the inspectorate to investigate specific allegations, without your insight, we 

wouldn’t have been able to write this report. Such insight continues to be invaluable, 

including through our staff surveys and during our inspections.  

I would also like to extend my thanks to those who are already doing all they can to 

improve the cultures nationally and in their services. To go against the grain can take 

real courage. Please continue; your efforts aren’t going unnoticed. 

There are many thousands of professional people working in fire and rescue who 

provide a great service to their communities. It continues to concern me that some 

members of the service don’t treat each other or members of the public with respect 

and in some cases, have intentionally caused harm. 

It is time for this behaviour to stop. 

 

Roy Wilsher OBE QFSM 

HM Inspector of Fire and Rescue Services 

Page 56



 

 9 

Our recommendations 

Raising concerns 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation 1 

By 1 October 2023, chief fire officers should make sure their services provide a 

confidential way for staff to raise concerns and that staff are aware of 

whistleblowing processes. 

Recommendation 2 

By 1 October 2023, National Employers, the Local Government Association and 

the National Fire Chiefs Council should review any current independent 

arrangements whereby staff can raise concerns outside their FRS. They should 

then ensure that all FRS staff have access to an independent reporting line that 

can be used as a confidential way to raise concerns outside their own FRS. 

Recommendation 3 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should review the support available for those 

who have raised concerns and take any action needed to make sure these 

provisions are suitable. 

Recommendation 4 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should assure themselves that updates on 

how concerns are being handled are shared with those who have raised them. 

The updates should be given in an accessible way that encourages trust and 

confidence in the service response. Consideration should be given to creating a 

professional standards function to handle conduct concerns in service (or from an 

external service) to have oversight of cases, to make sure they are conducted in a 

fair and transparent way and to act as a point of contact for all staff involved. 

Page 57

https://www.local.gov.uk/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/


 

 10 

 

Background checks 

 

 

 

Recommendation 5 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should make sure they provide accessible 

information for all staff and members of the public on how they can raise concerns 

and access confidential support (including through external agencies). Chief fire 

officers should also make sure accessible information is provided on how 

concerns and allegations will be investigated in a way that ensures confidentiality 

and is independent of the alleged perpetrator. 

Recommendation 6 

By 1 January 2024, the Home Office, working with the Ministry of Justice, should 

make sure that the Government incorporates fire and rescue authority employees 

within the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975 so that 

they are eligible for the appropriate DBS checks. 

Recommendation 7 

By 1 May 2024, the Home Office, working with the fire and rescue sector, should 

make sure that the Police Act 1997 (Criminal Records) Regulations 2002, or a 

similar appropriate legislatively enabled solution, makes detailed provisions for fire 

and rescue services. 

Recommendation 8 

By 1 December 2023, the Fire Standards Board, in liaison with the National Fire 

Chiefs Council, should review the existing relevant standard(s) and underpinning 

guidance. It should: 

• clearly state the requirements for background checks undertaken by services; 

• clarify the minimum requirements (including levels of DBS checks) for all roles, 

particularly roles where staff have access to vulnerable members of the public; 

• define the standards required to embed a culture across fire and rescue 

services that empowers all members of staff and local communities to report 

concerns; and 

• be subject to review following any legislative change. 

Page 58

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1975/1023/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/233/contents/made
https://www.firestandards.org/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/


 

 11 

 

 

Misconduct handling 

 

 

Recommendation 9 

By 1 January 2024, chief fire officers should: 

• immediately review their current background checks arrangements, and make 

sure that suitable and sufficient background checks are in place to safeguard 

their staff and communities they serve; and 

• make sure that appropriate DBS check requests have been submitted for all 

existing, new staff, and volunteers, according to their roles as identified by the 

Fire Standards Board. 

Recommendation 10 

By 1 September 2023, chief constables should make sure they are appropriately 

using their Common Law Police Disclosure powers in circumstances involving 

employees of fire and rescue services. 

Recommendation 11 

By 1 December 2023, the Fire Standards Board, in liaison with the National Fire 

Chiefs Council, should review the existing relevant standard(s) and supporting 

guidance to clearly state how services should handle staff disclosures, complaints 

and grievances. 

Recommendation 12 

By 1 March 2024, chief fire officers should provide assurances to HMICFRS 

that they have implemented the standard on staff disclosure, complaint and 

grievance handling. 

Page 59

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/safeguarding/
https://www.firestandards.org/
https://www.firestandards.org/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/


 

 12 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation 13 

By 1 December 2023, the Fire Standards Board, in liaison with the National Fire 

Chiefs Council, should review the existing relevant standard(s) and supporting 

guidance to clearly state how services should handle misconduct and 

safeguarding-related allegations and outcomes. These should include 

requirements to: 

• conduct and complete investigations, whether or not the staff member under 

investigation leaves; 

• consider whether the incident requires immediate dismissal; 

• provide training for staff who are carrying out investigations; and 

• ensure the diversity/neutrality of the investigation panel/person. 

Recommendation 14 

By 1 March 2024, chief fire officers should provide assurances to HMICFRS 

that they have implemented the standard on misconduct allegations and 

outcomes handling. 

Recommendation 15 

By 1 October 2023, the Home Office should work with the National Fire Chiefs 

Council and fire and rescue service employers to make sure there is a process to 

handle misconduct allegations against chief fire officers. The Home Office should 

immediately notify HMICFRS of any allegations and outcomes that it is aware of. 

Recommendation 16 

By 1 October 2023, the National Fire Chiefs Council should develop and manage 

a national barred list that holds details of staff who have been dismissed for gross 

misconduct (including staff who have already left services). It should ensure that 

this list is referred to in all appointment processes to prevent those who are barred 

from rejoining another service. After the College of Fire and Rescue has been 

established (see recommendation 25), it should take responsibility for managing 

the list. 

Page 60

https://www.firestandards.org/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/


 

 13 

 

 

 

Leadership 

 

 

 

Recommendation 17 

With immediate effect, chief fire officers should notify HMICFRS of any allegations 

that have the potential to constitute staff gross misconduct that: 

• involve allegations of a criminal nature that have the potential to affect public 

confidence in FRSs; 

• are of a serious nature; or 

• relate to assistant chief fire officers or those at equivalent or higher grades. 

Recommendation 18 

By 1 August 2023, chief fire officers should provide assurances to HMICFRS that 

all parties are supported in relation to ongoing investigations. 

Recommendation 19 

By 1 July 2023, the Home Office should examine whether any appeal processes 

for fire and rescue misconduct cases are appropriate. 

Recommendation 20 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should have plans in place to ensure they meet 

the Fire Standards Board’s leading the service standard and its leading and 

developing people standard. 

Recommendation 21 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should make sure there is a full, 360-degree 

feedback process in place for all senior leaders and managers (assistant chief fire 

officer equivalent and above) in service. 

Recommendation 22 

By 1 September 2023, chief fire officers should make sure there is a full, 

360-degree feedback process in place for all other leaders and managers 

in service. The process should include gathering feedback from a wide range of 

sources including colleagues and direct reports. 

Page 61

https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/leading-the-service-fsc-led01b/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/leading-developing-people-fsc-led01a/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/leading-developing-people-fsc-led01a/


 

 14 

 

 

Management and leadership training and development 

 

 

Diversity data 

 

Recommendation 23 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should seek regular feedback from staff about 

values, culture, fairness and diversity, with due regard to the leading and 

developing people standard. They should show how they act on this feedback. 

Recommendation 24 

By 1 October 2023, chief fire officers should put plans in place to monitor, 

including through the gathering and analysis of staff feedback, watch and team 

cultures and provide prompt remedial action for any issues they identify. 

Recommendation 25 

By 1 January 2025, the Government should establish a College of Fire and 

Rescue, as proposed by the White Paper Reforming our Fire and Rescue Service. 

There should be no further delay to its implementation. 

Recommendation 26 

By 1 October 2023, as a precursor to the development of the College of Fire and 

Rescue, chief fire officers and the National Fire Chiefs Council should work with 

the Home Office to consider how they can improve the training and support they 

offer to staff in management and leadership development. This should include 

authority members in respect of their assurance leadership roles and should 

ensure that opportunities are offered fairly across all staff groups. 

Recommendation 27 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should make sure their equality impact 

assessments are fit for purpose and, as a minimum, meet the requirements of the 

National Fire Chiefs Council equality impact assessment toolkit. 

Page 62

https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/leading-developing-people-fsc-led01a/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/leading-developing-people-fsc-led01a/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/watch/
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/reforming-our-fire-and-rescue-service
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://www.ukfrs.com/equality-impact-assessment-toolkit


 

 15 

 

 

 

 

Improving diversity 

 

 

Recommendation 28 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should review how they gather and use equality 

and diversity data to improve their understanding of their staff demographics, 

including applying and meeting the requirements of the National Fire Chiefs 

Council equality, diversity and inclusion data toolkit. 

Recommendation 29 

By 1 December 2023, the Home Office should publish greater detail on the 

protected characteristic data it collects about FRS staff, including joiners and 

leavers, by rank and role. 

Recommendation 30 

By 30 December 2024, the Home Office should align the data it collects on 

protected characteristics with the Office for National Statistics harmonised 

standard and publish this data. 

Recommendation 31 

By 1 December 2024, the Home Office should collect and publish experimental 

statistics on public complaints and conduct matters in relation to FRS staff, similar 

to that which it currently publishes on police forces in England and Wales. 

Recommendation 32 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should, as a priority, specify in succession plans 

how they intend to improve diversity across all levels of the service. This should 

include offering increased direct-entry opportunities. 

Recommendation 33 

By 1 August 2023, chief fire officers should develop plans to promote progression 

paths for existing staff in non-operational roles and put plans in place to reduce 

any inequalities of opportunity. 

Page 63

https://www.ukfrs.com/equality-diversity-and-inclusion-data-toolkit
https://www.ukfrs.com/equality-diversity-and-inclusion-data-toolkit
https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/classificationsandstandards
https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/classificationsandstandards


 

 16 

The Core Code of Ethics 

 

The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

 

Recommendation 34 

With immediate effect, chief fire officers should review their implementation of the 

Core Code of Ethics and make sure it is being applied across their services. 

Recommendation 35 

By the end of this Parliament, the Government should consider the findings and 

recommendations in this report when refreshing the Fire and Rescue National 

Framework for England. 

Page 64

https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/code-of-ethics-fsc-eth01/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-and-rescue-national-framework-for-england--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-and-rescue-national-framework-for-england--2


 

 17 

Summary 

We have repeatedly expressed concern about values and culture in 

the fire and rescue service since we began inspections in 2018 

Since our first fire and rescue service (FRS) inspections in 2018, failure to 

demonstrate positive values as well as evidence of poor behaviours (such as bullying, 

harassment and discrimination) and culture have been a recurring theme throughout 

our reports. In 2018 and 2019, in our first round of inspections (Round 1), our findings 

were stark. We found long-standing and apparently deep-rooted issues relating to 

values, culture, fairness and diversity. The situation was described to us by some in 

the sector as an “old boys’ club”. 

As a result, we recommended that England’s FRSs would benefit from a code 

of ethics. In May 2021, part-way through our Round 2 inspections, the Fire 

Standards Board in partnership with the National Fire Chiefs Council, the Association 

of Police and Crime Commissioners and the Local Government Association, 

established the Core Code of Ethics for Fire and Rescue Services and a Code of 

Ethics Fire Standards Code. We are encouraged that many services are working to 

implement these. 

Not enough progress has been made 

Everyone has a right to be treated with dignity and respect at work and to feel safe. 

While some progress has been made, it is clear that there is more to be done to 

improve values and culture in FRSs. The scale and pace of progress must improve. 

From February 2021 to August 2022, we carried out our second full round of 

inspections (Round 2). We continued to find that: 

• some services need to get better at promoting positive professional cultures; 

• most services need to do more to improve equality, diversity and inclusion; and 

• progression opportunities for staff aren’t equal, which is hindering the potential for 

greater diversity of thought in services’ leadership teams. 

In our first round of inspections, we issued requires improvement or inadequate 

grades to half (22) of the 44 services in relation to our findings on their values 

and cultures. In our Round 2 inspections, although we found that around a quarter 

(12) of services had improved, we issued requires improvement or inadequate grades 

to just under half (17) of FRSs and to around a fifth (8) which had deteriorated. 

Page 65

https://www.firestandards.org/
https://www.firestandards.org/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://apccs.police.uk/
https://apccs.police.uk/
https://www.local.gov.uk/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/core-code-ethics-fire-and-rescue-services-england
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/code-of-ethics-fsc-eth01/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/code-of-ethics-fsc-eth01/


 

 18 

Causes of concern are currently in place in relation to values and culture in five 

services. 

In Round 2, we issued requires improvement or inadequate grades in relation to 

fairness and diversity to over half (26) of the services. In our first round of inspections, 

we issued these to roughly the same number (28) of services. Similarly, causes of 

concern are currently in place in relation to fairness and diversity in five services. 

We continued to find examples of bullying, harassment and 

discrimination in some services 

We were deeply concerned by some of our findings in our Round 2 inspections. 

For example, staff survey results provided examples of bullying, harassment and 

discrimination in all services. This often included staff behaving towards each other in 

inappropriate and unacceptable ways. 

In at least 11 services, we found evidence of racism, sexism and homophobia and a 

culture where staff, including managers, didn’t always feel confident to challenge poor 

behaviour, such as bullying, harassment and discrimination. Many people we spoke to 

told us they felt they couldn’t challenge ideas or poor behaviour without detriment and 

that staff were scared to speak out. We also heard that those who did speak out were 

sometimes victimised. However, this wasn’t always the case – some services handled 

concerns appropriately. 

Some examples of unacceptable behaviours include: 

• a senior officer referring to a Black colleague using the ‘n-word’ and putting it down 

to “having a laugh”; 

• two male firefighters joking with a female firefighter that they were “going to rape 

her” and the three of them acting out the rape together; 

• homophobic abuse written on a firefighter’s locker; 

• no action being taken by senior leaders against reported or witnessed 

discriminatory or bullying behaviour;  

• inappropriate language about female members of staff; 

• bullying new recruits and humiliating them; and 

• staff feeling it is unsafe to report inappropriate behaviour. 

Further examples are included in our detailed findings.  

Page 66

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/cause-of-concern/


 

 19 

We moved two services into our engage phase of enhanced 

monitoring 

Our findings about the values, cultures, fairness and diversity at Gloucestershire Fire 

and Rescue Service and London Fire Brigade were serious enough to contribute to 

the services being placed into our engage process of enhanced monitoring. We will 

continue to monitor values and culture and other issues in these services. 

Page 67



 

 20 

Defining the problem 

What do we mean by values and culture? 

For this report, values are defined as principles or standards of behaviour and culture 

is defined as ideas, customs and behaviours in fire and rescue services (FRSs). 

What do we mean by equality, diversity and inclusion? 

Equality, diversity and inclusion are closely linked to values and culture. In this 

report, it is defined as ensuring fair treatment and opportunity for all. It aims to 

eradicate prejudice and discrimination against an individual or a group of individuals’ 

protected characteristics. 

Why are values and culture important? 

It is well documented that staff well-being, productivity, efficiency and motivation are 

linked to compassionate and fair working cultures. It states in the Fire and Rescue 

Service Equality and Diversity Strategy 2008–18 that: 

“They [FRSs] must drive how we treat each other as members of the Service; how 

we treat each of our customers; how we interact with the diverse communities we 

serve, and how we deliver our services to those communities. To be an effective 

Service our policies, practices and procedures must be fair, providing equality of 

opportunity to all employees and an appropriate and effective service to all parts of 

the community.” 

Ensuring staff safety, well-being and productivity 

Our evidence shows that some FRS staff have behaved poorly over many years 

and that this has negatively affected other staff and, in some cases, the public. 

Where these behaviours go unchallenged, there is a risk that they are accepted 

and normalised. 

FRS staff at times work under pressure and in dangerous scenarios. They need to be 

able to trust and depend on one another for their own safety. In extreme examples, 

the effect of a poor culture can mean that individuals don’t believe they can rely on 

colleagues to protect them. 

Page 68

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-and-rescue-service-equality-and-diversity-strategy-2008-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-and-rescue-service-equality-and-diversity-strategy-2008-to-2018


 

 21 

Providing a safe and effective service to the public 

Values and culture have an effect on the quality of service provided. Research by 

NHS England has found evidence of a clear link between staff experience and patient 

satisfaction (Links between NHS staff experience and patient satisfaction: analysis of 

surveys from 2014 and 2015). And in 2011, research funded by the Department of 

Health showed: 

“Good management of NHS staff leads to higher quality of care, more satisfied 

patients and lower patient mortality. Good staff management offers significant 

financial savings for the NHS, as its leaders respond to the challenge of 

sustainability in the face of increasing costs and demands.” 

While such extensive research isn’t available for the fire and rescue sector, it is 

reasonable to suggest there may be a similar link between services’ effectiveness and 

their cultures. 

In our second round of inspections, almost two thirds (12) of the 17 services that we 

issued a requires improvement or inadequate grade in relation to values and culture 

were also issued requires improvement or inadequate grades for their effectiveness. 

And a key finding of the 2015 Independent review of conditions of service for fire and 

rescue staff in England (the Thomas review) was that culture and trust are at the 

centre of many of the changes needed to create a high-performing service aligned 

with the needs of the people it serves. 

The Independent Cultural Review of London Fire Brigade includes examples of 

firefighter behaviour towards members of the public that are completely inexcusable. 

As one member of staff in the review commented: “It’s now reached a point with me 

that I tell my female friends not to let male firefighters in the house. I would advise any 

single woman not to let them in to check smoke alarms.” 

Alongside the allegations recently covered in the media, it is clear why some members 

of the public might mistrust FRS staff and why the standing and reputation of services 

might be damaged. No one should feel they can’t rely on or trust their FRS. Cultures 

must improve to make sure that the public trusts FRS staff to provide a quality and 

safe service for all. 

Services have legal obligations 

All public sector organisations have a legal obligation to deal effectively with bullying, 

harassment and discrimination. As far as possible, they must prevent it and tackle it 

properly when it happens. 

This obligation includes fostering good relations between those who have protected 

characteristics (as defined in the Equality Act 2010) and those who don’t. FRSs are no 

different and penalties for breaking the law can be severe. Services should carry out 

this duty in everything they do. This includes making sure their equality impact 

assessments are fit for purpose. 

Page 69

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/links-between-nhs-staff-experience-and-patient-satisfaction-analysis-of-surveys-from-2014-and-2015/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/links-between-nhs-staff-experience-and-patient-satisfaction-analysis-of-surveys-from-2014-and-2015/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/links-between-nhs-staff-experience-and-patient-satisfaction-analysis-of-surveys-from-2014-and-2015/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/links-between-nhs-staff-experience-and-patient-satisfaction-analysis-of-surveys-from-2014-and-2015/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/conditions-of-service-for-fire-and-rescue-staff-independent-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/conditions-of-service-for-fire-and-rescue-staff-independent-review
https://www.london-fire.gov.uk/about-us/independent-culture-review/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents


 

 22 

Culture is linked to discrimination 

During our second round of inspections, all but one of the services that we issued 

a requires improvement or inadequate grade in relation to values and culture were 

also issued requires improvement or inadequate grades in relation to their fairness 

and diversity. 

As Sir William Macpherson, who led the 1999 inquiry into the murder of Stephen 

Lawrence, pointed out, individuals tend to conform to the norms of occupational 

cultures. 

We cover in the main body of this report how watches, which operational staff in 

most services are a part of, can particularly lead to the development of subcultures, 

which in turn can foster unacceptable behaviours, such as bullying, harassment 

and discrimination. We have reported on the negative side of watch cultures in some 

FRSs (which is similar to the negative side of canteen culture referenced in the 

Stephen Lawrence Inquiry). 

These cultures and subcultures can shape perceptions of certain communities or 

those with protected characteristics and negatively affect how they are treated, both 

as colleagues and as members of the public receiving a service. 

This has been going on for far too long. 

Page 70

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-stephen-lawrence-inquiry
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-stephen-lawrence-inquiry
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/watch/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/watch-culture/


 

 23 

Methodology 

Our approach 

On 16 January 2023, we published the terms of reference for this review. We aimed 

for publication by April 2023. We adopted a targeted approach to researching, 

gathering and analysing evidence. As part of our terms of reference, we considered 

the following specific themes, which align with our inspection framework: 

• values and culture, including bullying, harassment and discrimination 

• training and skills 

• fairness and diversity 

• leadership. 

We focused predominantly on evidence collected from our second round of fire and 

rescue service (FRS) inspections and prioritised the services which: 

• were issued a cause of concern or area for improvement in these areas; 

• were issued an outstanding grade in these areas; or 

• have shown examples of innovative or promising practice in these areas. 

We also reviewed evidence relating to: 

• how services are using the Core Code of Ethics; 

• watch cultures; and 

• the influence of other factors or organisations. 

We used the following sources of evidence: 

• our service inspection reports 

• our evidence gathering templates 

• our independent reporting line 

• our staff survey (to which we received 11,486 FRS staff responses) 

• our national reports 

• our policing reports on similar matters 

• relevant external research in this area 

• relevant literature sources, including evidence from other sectors 

• publicly available evidence on how FRS cultures may be influenced. 

Page 71

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/terms-of-reference-spotlight-report-on-values-and-culture-in-fire-and-rescue-services/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/code-of-ethics-fsc-eth01/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/watch-culture/


 

 24 

This approach meant we could consider in detail and at a sector level both positive 

and negative cumulative evidence. It also supported the identification and analysis of 

trends and behaviours across services. 

Page 72



 

 25 

Our findings 

As set out in the summary of findings, issues concerning values and culture in fire and 

rescue services (FRSs) aren’t new. We have been reporting our concerns in this area 

since 2018 when we carried out our first round of inspections (Round 1), and we have 

described the culture in some services as toxic. While we found, in our second full 

round of inspections (Round 2), that some services’ values and culture had improved 

since then, the grades and causes of concern we issued highlight a continued need 

for change. 

In our second round of inspections, we were particularly concerned to find that 

there are still unacceptable levels of bullying, harassment and discrimination in 

some services. 

Improvements in some services’ values aren’t always reflected in 

staff behaviours 

In Round 2, it was encouraging to find that many services have invested in attempts to 

improve their values and culture and that most do have a clear set of values. 

Approximately a quarter of services (12) have made some progress with their values, 

communication with staff and visibility of leaders since our first round of inspections. 

The services that have made these improvements have seen these changes result in 

improved behaviours among staff. 

In one service, staff talked positively about the service’s approach to values and 

the introduction of a behavioural competency framework. For example, the main staff 

communications, including the intranet, staff magazine and manager information 

sheet, are based on the service values. In this service, the new behavioural 

competency framework and employee code of conduct had been sent to every 

employee. We saw behaviours that reflected the values at all levels in this service. 

In Round 1, another service received a cause of concern for its values and culture. 

This was removed in Round 2. The progress it has made also translated into a 

grade improvement. This service fosters positive cultures, and we found limited 

examples of bullying and harassment. 

But in many services, efforts to improve values and culture haven’t always translated 

into improvements in staff behaviours. 

Page 73

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/cause-of-concern/


 

 26 

This finding is reflected in the outcomes of our Round 2 staff survey, to which we 

received 11,486 FRS staff responses. The survey showed that 94 percent of 

respondents are aware of their service’s statement of values, but only 52 percent of 

respondents thought their service was extremely or very effective at providing a 

positive culture that reflects the service’s values. 

Services need to find ways to bridge the gap between their values and how they 

proactively promote them to staff. To make improvements to cultures that staff can 

feel, services need to make sure that staff adhere to these values through regular use 

and demonstration by managers. If they aren’t already, services might find helpful 

solutions by looking outside the sector, such as to NHS organisations that are 

performing highly in this area. 

Bullying, harassment and discrimination are, to varying degrees, still 

problems in all services 

We identified examples of poor behaviour, such as bullying, harassment and 

discrimination, in all services we inspected in Round 2. The services with the worst 

examples and toxic cultures are the ones to which we issued causes of concern. 

But there are many other services with serious issues, ranging from examples of 

inappropriate behaviour, such as bullying, harassment and discrimination, to cases of 

gross misconduct and criminal conduct. Information shared by services in relation to 

misconduct, grievance and complaint cases shows that over half involved 

inappropriate language/behaviour and bullying and harassment associated with a 

protected characteristic. Some of the specific examples reported to us include: 

• no action being taken against reported discriminatory behaviour. This includes a 

firefighter who reported a senior officer for a racist comment and felt that his 

account of events was questioned. He was then questioned and told the alleged 

offender “wouldn’t behave in such a way”. The senior officer then threatened “to 

make his life hell”;  

• a senior officer referring to a Black colleague using the ‘n-word’ and putting it down 

to “having a laugh”; 

• homophobic abuse found written on a firefighter’s locker; 

• men using women’s toilets and women not feeling confident to challenge this; 

• no action being taken by managers who witnessed bullying behaviour and 

inappropriate comments; 

• a perception among staff that women are appointed due to their gender, rather 

than on merit. Several people expressed this view, with individual experiences 

described using inappropriate language, including “if you menstruate or have a 

vagina, you’re more likely to get the job” and “you have to be a woman to get on”; 

• staff not wishing to work in specific areas of the service because of poor 

behaviours; 

• humiliating staff during training sessions if they made mistakes; 

Page 74



 

 27 

• staff being ‘shouted down’ by senior teams if they challenged decisions; 

• staff feeling it is unsafe to report inappropriate behaviour and that their concerns 

wouldn’t be listened to or acted on appropriately or confidentially; 

• staff being reluctant to speak up about or challenge inappropriate behaviours as 

they felt that doing so would affect their prospects, have adverse consequences for 

them or lead to a ‘negative mark’ against their name and being told it would be 

“career suicide” to do so; 

• staff being reluctant to raise issues with middle and senior management, as they 

were told they would be moved if they did; and 

• a watch manager refusing to support positive action to promote the FRS as a 

career for under-represented groups. 

The results of our Round 2 staff survey provide another indication that there is a 

problem in relation to staff behaviours. 

• In the 17 services that we issued requires improvement or inadequate grades in 

relation to values and culture, we found that reports of bullying, harassment and 

discrimination were higher. Of the staff from these services who responded to our 

survey, 15 percent reported experiencing bullying or harassment and 20 percent 

reported experiencing discrimination, compared with 11 and 14 percent from those 

we issued good or outstanding values and culture grades to. 

• These reports came from FRS staff at all levels but were most often about alleged 

cases of senior staff bullying more junior staff (75 percent of 1,478 reports of 

bullying and 85 percent of discrimination reports in the staff survey). This was also 

reflected in the information we received relating to misconduct allegations. 

• Some groups of staff, such as those with under-represented protected 

characteristics, are more likely to experience bullying and harassment. (For more 

detail, see the section titled Most services need to do more to improve their 

equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI).) 

Services need to do more to address these problems. 

Subgroups, including watches, can foster unacceptable behaviours 

and poor cultures 

We have seen and heard the potentially damaging effects of subgroups and 

subcultures within FRSs leading to the development of significant ‘in groups’ and 

‘out groups’. The example of watch cultures is covered below. Other examples 

identified during our inspections, such as the differences in staff experience between 

operational and non-operational staff are also highlighted elsewhere in this report. 

Similarly, Fire Brigades Union slogans, such as ‘member with backbone’ printed 

on t-shirts and the term ‘scab’ used openly on social media, have the potential to 

also cause rifts. This undermines the positive effect that a strong staff association 

Page 75

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/watch-culture/


 

 28 

can bring. These all risk harming the culture in a service by ostracising people who 

don’t conform rather than supporting colleagues to, for example, raise concerns. 

During our first round of inspections, we expressed concerns about the effect of 

watches on service cultures. Watches are common across services and are a 

long-standing workforce model. 

The way watches operate is unique to the fire service and often results in staff working 

on the same team together for many years. Operational staff work, train and eat in 

close proximity to each other and often sleep at the station overnight. They are 

considered families by some operational staff, but they can exclude others and affect 

individuals not seen to fit in. We heard that it takes a strong leader to be a watch 

commander who doesn’t become part of the watch subculture. 

We found that, in some services, watches had created their own subcultures, which 

were contrary to service values and are impenetrable for new staff. As a result, we 

found some watches had normalised certain unacceptable behaviours, such as 

bullying, harassment and discrimination. They were resistant to change, and members 

of the watch were reluctant to seek professional support out of fear of being viewed 

as weak. 

The Independent Culture Review of London Fire Brigade drew the same conclusion. 

Examples of this behaviour from brigade watches featured in the report include 

continually mocking people’s religion, taking bets on who would be the first person in 

a team to sleep with a woman and filling people’s helmets with urine. And, as 

pointed out in the foreword, there are similarities between watch culture and the 

canteen culture described in the Stephen Lawrence Inquiry. 

During our Round 1 inspections, we advised that FRSs should carefully review the 

future of watches and consider the advantages of alternative working arrangements. 

The Independent review of conditions of service for fire and rescue staff in England 

also found that watch cultures need to change – this report was published eight years 

ago and yet we are still finding problems in this area. 

In our Round 2 inspections, at one service, a firefighter told us they had witnessed two 

male firefighters joking with a female firefighter that they were “going to rape her”, and 

the three of them acted out the rape together. We also found instances where new 

recruits joined the service with a positive attitude and no apparent disposition to 

certain behaviours but soon felt the need to assimilate into the prevailing culture to 

“fit in”. 

In another service, staff told us that the culture in general was “toxic” and behaviours 

on watches were “pack-like”. And they told us that on watches, people didn’t always 

challenge inappropriateness towards race.  

Page 76

https://www.london-fire.gov.uk/about-us/independent-culture-review/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-stephen-lawrence-inquiry
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/conditions-of-service-for-fire-and-rescue-staff-independent-review


 

 29 

In another service, we heard of station managers making off-the-cuff comments and 

inappropriate banter about female and gay staff. There was an expectation that female 

staff should make the tea. Bullying of new recruits led to one on-call firefighter needing 

to move station. 

We also found instances of: 

• on-call firefighters being treated differently from wholetime firefighters; 

• people who challenged inappropriate comments being shunned by colleagues who 

said their comments were banter; and 

• watch managers refusing to support positive action. 

Some services have revised their working arrangements with positive results. 

Other services would do well to consider whether watches are still the most 

appropriate way to manage teams. They should also consider how those teams can 

be made more inclusive and how behaviour of the type set out in this section of the 

report can be eliminated. 

Staff can feel unable to challenge or report poor behaviours 

Non or under-reporting of bullying, harassment and discrimination is common in 

organisations with poor cultures. As a result of the subgroups and subcultures 

previously mentioned, we were told that a lack of action by some services in previous 

cases led to a belief that reporting wouldn’t help. Some staff reported to us that they 

don’t trust the processes and described a culture where they have been, or fear they 

will be, targeted as a result of raising concerns. When staff have challenged 

inappropriate behaviour, such as bullying, harassment and discrimination, they have 

been told they must have misheard or that it was merely banter. 

One firefighter reported feeling that their “card would be marked” if they raised 

concerns. They told us that there was an “us and them” atmosphere between 

firefighters and senior managers. They felt that the service may not reach an 

appropriate outcome in response to a grievance. 

In one service, a female firefighter reported bullying to the assistant chief fire officer, 

as she felt unable to formally report it through the correct leadership channels. 

In several services, we found a worrying trend of staff not raising concerns if they felt 

they weren't part of an ‘old boys’ club’. We also heard from staff who felt others could 

get away with inappropriate behaviours, such as bullying, harassment and 

discrimination, “if they know the right people”. Some groups of staff we met in some 

services reported that they didn’t have the confidence to challenge poor behaviours, 

and we were told that managers dealt with reports either inconsistently or not at all. 

In another service, after a firefighter’s reports regarding a senior officer making a racist 

comment were dismissed, he was threatened. He was told “friends investigate friends” 

in services and that it was “career suicide” to challenge the status quo. 

Page 77



 

 30 

In another service, the staff told us that on watches, people didn’t challenge 

inappropriateness towards race: “So people lie and stick together in pack mentality, 

even though they know it’s wrong, as they’re afraid of being ostracised.” 

We found evidence of low trust in grievance processes in 13 services. In one service, 

we were told the main reasons for staff not raising grievances were concerns about 

being labelled as a troublemaker and feeling there would be no action taken. 

In another, staff told us some senior leaders didn’t try to identify and resolve workforce 

concerns. They detailed examples of raising concerns with senior managers, with no 

positive results for staff. 

And in yet another service, staff told us that some longer-serving members of staff 

sometimes used language or displayed behaviours that didn’t align with service 

expectations (we found this in more than one service). Newer members of staff told 

us that they were willing to challenge this, which has helped to change the 

organisational culture. Staff also told us that, while the service is trying to tackle the 

issue, they felt that the culture wouldn’t really change “until the older generation 

retires”. However, some watch cultures are so strong that they survive beyond the 

retirement of staff members who behaved inappropriately. Staff told us of racist, sexist 

and homophobic comments and behaviours which had gone unchallenged or been 

dismissed as banter. 

Our Round 2 staff survey found that in services with good or outstanding grades 

around values and culture, staff felt more able to challenge than in services with 

requires improvement or inadequate grades. Similarly, in good or outstanding graded 

services, staff felt more confident about how to give feedback to all levels. 

Staff from ethnic minority backgrounds who have experienced bullying or harassment 

are less likely to report it than White members of staff. The results of our staff survey 

showed that 62 percent of respondents from ethnic minority backgrounds didn’t report 

it, compared to 41 percent of White respondents. 

Many staff members who didn’t report bullying or harassment said this was because 

they believed nothing would be done. Services need to make sure they understand 

why some staff believe this and take action to rectify the issue. 

Some managers are unable to deal with or challenge inappropriate behaviours 

One potential reason why some staff might be reluctant to raise concerns is that they 

have little faith in their manager’s ability to handle them in the right way. In our Round 

2 inspections, we found that some managers didn’t manage or challenge bullying or 

inappropriate behaviours, such as bullying, harassment and discrimination, even if 

they witnessed them.  

Page 78



 

 31 

One station (middle) manager told us that they didn’t feel confident raising 

grievances, as they believed it would adversely affect their position and future career. 

Managers need to know that if they raise concerns, they will be supported and that 

they won’t face adverse consequences. Support, including giving managers the 

necessary training and a zero-tolerance and early intervention approach to 

inappropriate behaviours, needs to come from the top. Unless managers receive 

support themselves, they can’t effectively support their staff. 

One service has heavily invested in openly discussing positive action and EDI-related 

topics. For example, it has established what it calls ‘brave space talks’, where 

sensitive issues can be discussed in a safe environment. As a result, staff are well 

engaged and have improved their understanding of positive action. 

Staff need a secure way to raise concerns 

Services need honest staff feedback so they can identify areas for improvement and 

take appropriate action where misconduct allegations are concerned. If they ignore 

these problems, serious issues may go unnoticed and potentially get worse. 

All staff – and particularly those in emergency service roles where the lives of both 

staff and members of the public are at risk – need reporting processes they trust as 

safe, without fear of any reprisals. They also need to know that their concerns will 

be taken seriously and investigated properly and that outcomes or sanctions will 

be appropriate. 

Staff reporting certain matters are protected by law under the Public Interest 

Disclosure Act 1998. These include: 

• a criminal offence, such as fraud; 

• that someone’s health and safety are in danger; 

• risk or actual damage to the environment; 

• a miscarriage of justice; 

• that the company is breaking the law (for example, by not having the right 

insurance); and 

• that they believe someone is covering up wrongdoing. 

Making a declaration covered by this legislation gives an employee certain 

protections. 

There is no consistent process, policy or standard for FRS staff to raise concerns 

either nationally or locally. This means we don’t have evidence of the efficacy of any 

current reporting processes, besides the fact that staff don’t always feel comfortable 

raising concerns. 

Given the particular cultural issues set out in this report and the reluctance of some 

staff to raise concerns, the sector is in need of such a process. 

Page 79

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/23/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/23/contents


 

 32 

Other sectors with such processes have reported successes. For example, the NHS in 

England has freedom to speak up guardians. The freedom to speak up initiative gives 

staff an alternative route to line managers and encourages a “positive culture where 

people feel they can speak up and their voices will be heard, and their suggestions 

acted upon”. 

One FRS has introduced a ‘speak up champion’, and concerns have been 

brought to its attention this way. This initiative allows staff to raise concerns in an 

informal manner. It has helped the service to see and hear the challenges it faces with 

regard to embedding an understanding of EDI. The process is seen as complementary 

to the grievance procedure and provides an alternative/informal way of raising 

concerns without fear of recrimination. We will consider how well this approach is 

working in our next inspection. 

The police service in England has the Independent Office for Police Conduct 

report line. Police officers and staff can email or call the line to report concerns of 

wrongdoing, that a criminal offence has been committed or where there is evidence of 

conduct that would justify disciplinary proceedings. While a reporting method of this 

kind for FRSs would help, it alone isn’t the answer to the challenges that surround 

raising concerns. 

 

 

 

Recommendation 1 

By 1 October 2023, chief fire officers should make sure their services provide a 

confidential way for staff to raise concerns and that staff are aware of 

whistleblowing processes. 

Recommendation 2 

By 1 October 2023, National Employers, the Local Government Association and 

the National Fire Chiefs Council should review any current independent 

arrangements whereby staff can raise concerns outside their FRS. They should 

then ensure that all FRS staff have access to an independent reporting line that 

can be used as a confidential way to raise concerns outside their own FRS. 

Recommendation 3 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should review the support available for those 

who have raised concerns and take any action needed to make sure these 

provisions are suitable. 

Page 80

https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/freedom-speak-guardians
https://www.policeconduct.gov.uk/complaints-and-appeals/information-police-officers-and-staff
https://www.policeconduct.gov.uk/complaints-and-appeals/information-police-officers-and-staff
https://www.local.gov.uk/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/


 

 33 

 

 

Background checks of fire and rescue service staff need to improve 

to reduce risk of harm to both staff and the public 

FRS employees hold positions of trust, especially given the role of the firefighter in 

prevention and protection activities. Each service has a duty to make sure that its 

staff and volunteers are equipped and trained to support and carry out their 

safeguarding work. They should also ensure that robust and rigorous checks are in 

place to make sure staff are suitable for their jobs. 

Services also have a legal obligation to have appropriate safeguarding arrangements 

in place. These duties are underpinned by the standards set out in section 11 of the 

Children Act 2004 and sections 42 to 46 of the Care Act 2014. 

But there are no consistent standards for FRSs to follow in relation to background 

checks, and there are no specific legal obligations for fire and rescue 

services/authorities to conduct particular checks on new or existing staff. 

Therefore, despite the above obligations, it is for authorities to decide if and how 

they conduct any background checks before appointing staff. Greater consistency of 

approach is needed. 

A recent review of information provided by FRSs regarding their employee 

background checks showed that there is wide variation and inconsistency in approach.  

Recommendation 4 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should assure themselves that updates on 

how concerns are being handled are shared with those who have raised them. 

The updates should be given in an accessible way that encourages trust and 

confidence in the service response. Consideration should be given to creating a 

professional standards function to handle conduct concerns in service (or from an 

external service) to have oversight of cases, to make sure they are conducted in a 

fair and transparent way and to act as a point of contact for all staff involved. 

Recommendation 5 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should make sure they provide accessible 

information for all staff and members of the public on how they can raise concerns 

and access confidential support (including through external agencies). Chief fire 

officers should also make sure accessible information is provided on how 

concerns and allegations will be investigated in a way that ensures confidentiality 

and is independent of the alleged perpetrator. 

Page 81

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/11
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/11
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/section/42/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/section/46
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted


 

 34 

As we said in our 2022 report, An inspection of vetting, misconduct, and misogyny in 

the police service, police forces need effective systems to prevent unsuitable job 

applicants from joining. FRS staff are also in positions of power and have access to 

vulnerable individuals. We see no reason why FRSs shouldn’t also have effective and 

robust background check processes, especially as FRS staff face less professional 

scrutiny than their policing peers, as there is no equivalent to the Independent Office 

for Police Conduct. 

We also see no reason why these processes can’t be applied retrospectively to make 

sure not only that new recruits are suitable and safe to work but that the current 

workforce is, too. 

The public deserves assurance that the FRS staff they come into contact with have 

been subject to background checks prior to carrying out these roles. This is 

particularly important when considering the link between effective background checks 

and cultures of misogyny and predatory behaviour seen in policing. It is also important 

in light of the examples of inappropriate behaviour from firefighters towards members 

of their communities set out in recent allegations. 

We welcome the progress made by the Home Office and the National Fire Chiefs 

Council (NFCC) to incorporate members of FRSs in the Rehabilitation of Offenders 

Act 1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975. This would mean staff must disclose any caution 

or conviction to the service. 

We also encourage services and authorities to consider the need for an increased 

level of checks for those roles that carry out specific or regulated activities as defined 

by the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974, the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 

(Exceptions) Order 1975, and the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006. 

Where there is a public protection risk and a pressing social need to share 

information, Common Law Police Disclosure gives police forces in England (and 

Wales) a power to pass information to the employer or regulatory body. However, it 

was beyond the scope of this report to examine the extent to which police forces 

are currently using this power to pass information to fire and rescue services about 

their staff. Chief constables should make sure they are appropriately using this power 

in circumstances involving employees of fire and rescue services. 

 

Recommendation 6 

By 1 January 2024, the Home Office, working with the Ministry of Justice, should 

make sure that the Government incorporates fire and rescue authority employees 

within the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975 so that 

they are eligible for the appropriate DBS checks. 

Page 82

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-vetting-misconduct-and-misogyny-in-the-police-service/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-vetting-misconduct-and-misogyny-in-the-police-service/
https://www.policeconduct.gov.uk/
https://www.policeconduct.gov.uk/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1975/1023/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1975/1023/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1974/53
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/common-law-police-disclosure
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1975/1023/contents/made


 

 35 

 

 

 

  

Recommendation 7 

By 1 May 2024, the Home Office, working with the fire and rescue sector, should 

make sure that the Police Act 1997 (Criminal Records) Regulations 2002, or a 

similar appropriate legislatively enabled solution, makes detailed provisions for fire 

and rescue services. 

Recommendation 8 

By 1 December 2023, the Fire Standards Board, in liaison with the National 

Fire Chiefs Council, should review the existing relevant standard(s) and 

underpinning guidance. It should: 

• clearly state the requirements for background checks undertaken by services; 

• clarify the minimum requirements (including levels of DBS checks) for all roles, 

particularly roles where staff have access to vulnerable members of the public; 

• define the standards required to embed a culture across fire and rescue 

services that empowers all members of staff and local communities to report 

concerns; and 

• be subject to review following any legislative change. 

Recommendation 9 

By 1 January 2024, chief fire officers should: 

• immediately review their current background checks arrangements, and make 

sure that suitable and sufficient background checks are in place to safeguard 

their staff and communities they serve; and 

• make sure that appropriate DBS check requests have been submitted for all 

existing, new staff, and volunteers, according to their roles as identified by the 

Fire Standards Board. 

Recommendation 10 

By 1 September 2023, chief constables should make sure they are appropriately 

using their Common Law Police Disclosure powers in circumstances involving 

employees of fire and rescue services. 

Page 83

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/233/contents/made
https://www.firestandards.org/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/safeguarding/
https://www.firestandards.org/


 

 36 

Allegations of misconduct should be handled appropriately 

There is no room in any FRS for someone who behaves inappropriately or 

perpetuates toxic cultures. As we have reported in relation to police background 

checks, some individuals who are assessed as suitable when they first join a service 

may become unsuitable later in their career. When this happens, services need 

effective systems to identify these individuals and, if necessary, dismiss them. 

We have seen a recent instance where, despite serious allegations amounting to 

gross misconduct being upheld following an investigation, a senior officer was able to 

retire rather than be dismissed. This sends the wrong message to staff, would-be 

perpetrators and the public. 

Information shared by services in relation to a misconduct, grievance and complaint 

case shows that in the course of the associated investigations, approximately a 

quarter of individuals were dismissed, and almost half of those individuals were 

permitted to resign or retire. The proportion of staff who can apparently avoid sanction 

points to a significant flaw in current misconduct arrangements. 

 

 

Recommendation 11 

By 1 December 2023, the Fire Standards Board, in liaison with the National Fire 

Chiefs Council, should review the existing relevant standard(s) and supporting 

guidance to clearly state how services should handle staff disclosures, complaints 

and grievances. 

Recommendation 12 

By 1 March 2024, chief fire officers should provide assurances to HMICFRS 

that they have implemented the standard on staff disclosure, complaint and 

grievance handling. 

Page 84

https://www.firestandards.org/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/


 

 37 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation 13 

By 1 December 2023, the Fire Standards Board, in liaison with the National Fire 

Chiefs Council, should review the existing relevant standard(s) and supporting 

guidance to clearly state how services should handle misconduct and 

safeguarding-related allegations and outcomes. These should include 

requirements to: 

• conduct and complete investigations, whether or not the staff member under 

investigation leaves; 

• consider whether the incident requires immediate dismissal; 

• provide training for staff who are carrying out investigations; and 

• ensure the diversity/neutrality of the investigation panel/person. 

Recommendation 14 

By 1 March 2024, chief fire officers should provide assurances to HMICFRS 

that they have implemented the standard on misconduct allegations and 

outcomes handling. 

Recommendation 15 

By 1 October 2023, the Home Office should work with the National Fire Chiefs 

Council and fire and rescue service employers to make sure there is a process to 

handle misconduct allegations against chief fire officers. The Home Office should 

immediately notify HMICFRS of any allegations and outcomes that it is aware of. 

Recommendation 16 

By 1 October 2023, the National Fire Chiefs Council should develop and manage 

a national barred list that holds details of staff who have been dismissed for gross 

misconduct (including staff who have already left services). It should ensure that 

this list is referred to in all appointment processes to prevent those who are barred 

from rejoining another service. After the College of Fire and Rescue has been 

established (see recommendation 25), it should take responsibility for managing 

the list. 

Page 85

https://www.firestandards.org/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/


 

 38 

 

 

 

A positive culture is created in services where the leadership is 

visible, transparent and fair 

How individual leaders behave sets the tone for the rest of the service. In our Round 2 

staff survey, 94 percent of respondents said they are aware of their service’s 

statement of values. But only 27 percent of those respondents agreed that senior 

leaders consistently model and maintain service values. This apparent gap indicates a 

disconnect between policy intent and observed behaviour. 

In our inspections, we have found that services with leaders who are visible to 

their staff, lead by example and are open to challenge appear to have fewer 

bullying, harassment and discrimination issues than services with less visible, 

autocratic leaders. For example, the new chief fire officer in one service has reportedly 

had a direct positive influence on the service culture. 

In services with a clear understanding of discipline and grievances, promotions, 

retention and successful recruitment processes, a lower proportion of staff who 

responded to our staff survey indicated that they had experienced bullying, 

harassment and discrimination. These services provide good training, use equality 

impact assessments effectively and promote positive action while ensuring that staff 

understand it. Senior leadership teams are visible and consult with staff. 

Recommendation 17 

With immediate effect, chief fire officers should notify HMICFRS of any allegations 

that have the potential to constitute staff gross misconduct that: 

• involve allegations of a criminal nature that have the potential to affect public 

confidence in FRSs; 

• are of a serious nature; or 

• relate to assistant chief fire officers or those at equivalent or higher grades. 

Recommendation 18 

By 1 August 2023, chief fire officers should provide assurances to HMICFRS that 

all parties are supported in relation to ongoing investigations. 

Recommendation 19 

By 1 July 2023, the Home Office should examine whether any appeal processes 

for fire and rescue misconduct cases are appropriate. 

Page 86



 

 39 

These services also have strong internal staff networks, clearly understood and 

demonstrated values and a positive health and safety culture. All of this helps to 

create a sense of inclusion, trust and support. 

We found that staff were also more positive about the culture of the service when 

leaders were accountable for their behaviours. For example, in one service, staff told 

us managers admitted when they had made a mistake and were open and honest 

about it. And in another service, the deputy chief fire officer gave a personal apology 

to staff who had been subject to bullying and harassment. In both cases, staff felt that 

this was a positive demonstration of service values. 

But these behaviours aren’t reflected in all services. In one service, it was clear that 

limited senior leader visibility had led to mistrust across parts of the organisation. 

We saw a similar lack of visibility in several other services. This was often attributed 

to either an unwillingness to listen or to an autocratic style of management. Lack of 

visibility makes it difficult for senior leaders to create a positive culture where staff 

adhere to the values expected of them. 

The British Army has also encountered cultural issues and inappropriate behaviours. 

As part of an independent audit of army culture, it is seeking to “reinforce the best and 

weed out the worst”, including extending its reporting to include middle-ranking 

officers, to improve transparency and identify the very best contemporary leaders to 

drive cultural change throughout the organisation. 

Leaders at all levels of all FRSs should know if they are meeting the needs of their 

staff, including how they respond to allegations of bullying, harassment or 

discrimination. They should use staff feedback to make improvements and continually 

assess how they can lead compassionately and improve the cultures in their services. 

The Fire Standards Board has recently implemented two professional standards, 

called leading the service and leading and developing people, which build on the Core 

Code of Ethics. We discuss these further in the section titled National work is 

supporting fire service improvements. 

 

 

Recommendation 20 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should have plans in place to ensure they meet 

the Fire Standards Board’s leading the service standard and its leading and 

developing people standard. 

Recommendation 21 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should make sure there is a full, 360-degree 

feedback process in place for all senior leaders and managers (assistant chief fire 

officer equivalent and above) in service. 

Page 87

https://www.firestandards.org/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/leading-the-service-fsc-led01b/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/leading-developing-people-fsc-led01a/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/code-of-ethics-fsc-eth01/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/code-of-ethics-fsc-eth01/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/leading-the-service-fsc-led01b/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/leading-developing-people-fsc-led01a/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/leading-developing-people-fsc-led01a/


 

 40 

 

 

 

Supervisors and middle managers need to be better trained in how 

to effectively manage, develop and support their staff 

Services generally focus heavily on maintaining the operational competence of their 

staff, but in too many services, we found little or no training about the leadership and 

management skills that are needed to effectively manage staff. Leadership and 

management training is an essential element of handling grievances, managing 

absences, conducting performance development reviews and supporting the 

development and progression of staff. 

This lack of leadership and management training means that managers sometimes 

aren’t equipped to appropriately challenge, or that they lack the confidence to address, 

poor behaviours, such as bullying, harassment and discrimination. This can be a 

particularly acute problem in watches, where poor behaviour often goes unchallenged. 

It can also be very difficult for newly promoted staff, as many services don’t provide 

appropriate or timely training, instead expecting them to learn on the job. 

In one service, staff reported that they felt managers aren’t always able to empathise. 

We found that one watch commander hadn’t had any training in relation to mental 

health, despite being in the role for 14 years. 

Most services to which we issued good or outstanding grades in relation to this 

area have good performance development review processes and completion rates. 

We found that services with gateways for promotion processes showed the most 

Recommendation 22 

By 1 September 2023, chief fire officers should make sure there is a full, 

360-degree feedback process in place for all other leaders and managers 

in service. The process should include gathering feedback from a wide range of 

sources including colleagues and direct reports. 

Recommendation 23 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should seek regular feedback from staff about 

values, culture, fairness and diversity, with due regard to the leading and 

developing people standard. They should show how they act on this feedback. 

Recommendation 24 

By 1 October 2023, chief fire officers should put plans in place to monitor, 

including through the gathering and analysis of staff feedback, watch and team 

cultures and provide prompt remedial action for any issues they identify. 

Page 88

https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/leading-developing-people-fsc-led01a/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/leading-developing-people-fsc-led01a/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/watch/


 

 41 

improvement between our inspections in terms of values and culture, and the 

processes were received positively by staff. 

Also, formal and informal conversations about learning, development and performance 

are more likely to take place in services with positive cultures. Staff in these services 

are more likely to have had a conversation with their manager about their learning and 

development. Services with a positive culture have a better understanding of their 

workforce’s skills and capabilities and how to manage them. 

One service has a range of online learning resources. It also has access to external 

learning providers to help all staff (not just supervisors or managers) to do their jobs 

effectively. Clear training plans are in place, and it provides learning hubs where staff 

can access additional learning and development. 

Aspiring and current managers would benefit from acquiring leadership and 

management skills to become more effective leaders. Training to improve these skills 

would improve the cultures within their services and could include the following: 

• inclusive leadership training 

• training on how to create compassionate working cultures 

• training on how to handle difficult conversations for managers 

• specific development opportunities for staff with protected characteristics. 

The NFCC’s leadership project was commissioned in response to the challenges 

facing current and future leaders in the fire sector. It consists of a suite of 

national products and tools that are being developed in line with the NFCC 

leadership framework. 

A lack of leadership and management skills isn’t a problem unique to FRSs, and other 

organisations have found ways to mitigate it. For example, the NHS leadership 

academy develops NHS leaders at a national level through a variety of programmes, 

resources and activities. 

The Civil Service accelerated development schemes aim to develop high-potential 

individuals to build a robust and diverse pipeline to the most senior and critical Civil 

Service roles. As part of this, the future leaders’ scheme provides a leadership 

development curriculum, which supports civil servants in accelerating their 

development as well as learning more about their personal leadership effectiveness. 

In May 2022, the Home Office published the White Paper Reforming our Fire and 

Rescue Service, in which it set out a proposal for a College of Fire and Rescue. 

The college could provide a central, consistent source of learning and development 

resources for staff to use to help them become better managers and leaders. 

But progress towards its inception has been too slow. 

Page 89

https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/National-Leadership-Framework
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/National-Leadership-Framework
https://www.leadershipacademy.nhs.uk/
https://www.leadershipacademy.nhs.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-service-talent-management/civil-service-talent-management
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/reforming-our-fire-and-rescue-service
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/reforming-our-fire-and-rescue-service


 

 42 

 

 

Most services need to do more to improve their equality, diversity 

and inclusion 

Culture and inclusion go hand in hand, and greater diversity improves performance 

and innovation. 

As set out earlier in this report, during our second round of inspections all but one of 

the 17 services that we issued a requires improvement or inadequate grade in relation 

to values and culture were also issued requires improvement or inadequate grades in 

relation to their fairness and diversity. This is no coincidence. 

Throughout all 44 services, we issued requires improvement or inadequate grades to 

over half (26) and causes of concern to five in relation to fairness and diversity. 

These problems are long-standing. In 1999 (19 years before we started inspecting 

FRSs), the then Fire Service Inspectorate carried out its Thematic Review of Equality 

and Fairness in the Fire Service. It issued 23 recommendations targeting greater 

equality and fairness for FRS staff. And since 2018, when HMICFRS started 

inspecting FRSs, we have highlighted the lack of fairness and diversity across all 

services in England. 

Progress to improve EDI in FRSs is far too slow. 

There isn’t enough diversity in fire and rescue services 

It is important that FRSs reflect the diversity of the communities they serve to maintain 

public trust and provide a better service to the public. 

But the workforce of England’s FRSs still doesn’t represent many of the communities 

that it serves. 

Recommendation 25 

By 1 January 2025, the Government should establish a College of Fire and 

Rescue, as proposed by the White Paper Reforming our Fire and Rescue Service. 

There should be no further delay to its implementation. 

Recommendation 26 

By 1 October 2023, as a precursor to the development of the College of Fire and 

Rescue, chief fire officers and the National Fire Chiefs Council should work with 

the Home Office to consider how they can improve the training and support they 

offer to staff in management and leadership development. This should include 

authority members in respect of their assurance leadership roles and should 

ensure that opportunities are offered fairly across all staff groups. 

Page 90

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/reforming-our-fire-and-rescue-service
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/


 

 43 

In 2018, according to data gathered for a government report, only 4 percent of 

firefighters were from an ethnic minority background compared to 16 percent of the 

working-age population. The FRSs were the least ethnically diverse workforce out of 

the 12 public sector workforces explored in the report. 

The proportion of firefighters from an ethnic minority background increased from 

3.8 percent in 2014 to 4.1 percent in 2018. This was the smallest increase out of the 

12 public sector workforces. It is clear, therefore, that services must do more to recruit 

and retain people from diverse backgrounds. 

One service has introduced a ten-week course which aims to give support, training 

and guidance to people from under-represented groups who are interested in joining 

the FRS. It is run at fire stations, before the formal recruitment process, and gives 

applicants a realistic understanding of the varied role of a firefighter. 

Another service is investing in recruitment and using positive action to improve 

recruitment diversity. It has adapted and targeted how it approaches and interacts 

with potential candidates and has employed a positive action officer. The chief fire 

officer is also the ‘positive action champion’. It makes sure its assessment panels 

are diverse so that all candidates can relate more to the service, including 

under-represented groups. 

In 2017, another service implemented an effective and successful apprenticeship 

programme. The apprentices have been recruited to a variety of roles across 

the service. This has helped positively change the organisation’s culture. In the 

last cohort, 50 percent were women and 25 percent were from an ethnic minority 

background. 

Services need to be more inclusive to support and retain staff 

Our most recent public perceptions survey found that the diversity of a service was a 

prominent barrier to considering a career in the FRS for 23 percent of respondents 

from ethnic minority backgrounds compared to only 9 percent of White respondents. 

And inclusivity of the FRS was seen as a barrier for 19 percent of respondents from 

ethnic minority backgrounds compared to 10 percent of White respondents. 

Services need to promote EDI meaningfully to both current staff and potential joiners. 

Some senior leaders have pointed to challenges in recruiting diverse workforces as 

being connected to the issues surrounding fairness, diversity and culture within 

their services. But representation of different walks of life alone isn’t enough. 

Recruitment isn’t the sole solution to improving services’ values, cultures, fairness 

and diversity. 

As an example, the NHS is very well represented by staff from ethnic minority 

backgrounds. In 2018, 46 percent of hospital doctors in England were from  

an ethnic minority background. But despite this representation, NHS staff still 

face discrimination. In more than three quarters (77 percent) of all NHS trusts, staff 

Page 91

https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/summaries/public-sector-workforces#public-sector-staff


 

 44 

with ethnic minority backgrounds reported higher rates of bullying, harassment and 

abuse from colleagues than White staff did. 

Senior leaders who are focused on recruitment would do well to also consider if they 

are doing everything they can to improve the inclusivity of their organisational cultures. 

Their existing staff who should feel respected and valued are more likely to be positive 

advocates for others to join. 

As a minimum, senior leaders should encourage staff to report discrimination and 

inappropriate behaviour, such as bullying, harassment and discrimination, and then 

act on these reports promptly and appropriately. This is one reason why the steps 

outlined earlier in this report, about raising concerns and handling misconduct 

allegations, are so important. 

While some services have attempted to improve their EDI, including the production of 

EDI plans, these good intentions often don’t lead to actual changes in the diversity of 

the workforce or to improvements that staff can perceive. This may mean potential 

staff don’t join or current staff may leave services prematurely. 

Discrimination is prevalent 

Failing to deal with issues of fairness and diversity may have a wider negative 

effect on services’ cultures and if unchallenged, may in turn perpetuate 

unacceptable behaviours. Some groups of staff, such as those from ethnic minority 

backgrounds and those who are disabled, neurodiverse and/or from the LGBTQ+ 

community, are more likely to experience bullying and harassment. 

In our Round 2 staff survey, we asked staff throughout England about their 

experiences of discrimination. We found: 

• Of the 11,486 staff survey respondents, 17 percent (1,920) had experienced 

discrimination in the past 12 months. 

• There were higher rates of reported discrimination from respondents from ethnic 

minority backgrounds than from White respondents: of the respondents from 

ethnic minority backgrounds, 20 percent had experienced discrimination compared 

to 16 percent of White respondents. 

• Of the female respondents who had experienced discrimination, 41 percent said 

gender was a factor compared with 16 percent of the male respondents. 

• Those who self-reported as disabled, neurodiverse or from the LGBTQ+ 

community were also more likely to report that they had experienced discrimination 

in the last 12 months. 

In one service, staff told us of homophobic and racial slurs being dismissed as banter. 

They gave us examples of racist and sexist comments and behaviours which had 

gone unchallenged. 

Page 92



 

 45 

Previous reviews have found that bullying, harassment and discrimination were a daily 

feature of some female firefighters’ lives. Some reviews have found that women, staff 

from ethnic minority backgrounds, LGBTQ+ and neurodiverse staff experience poor 

treatment and do less well in their careers. One review cited an example where a 

Black firefighter had had a noose put above his locker. 

In November 2022, the Home Office published a report on Pathways and barriers 

to leadership in fire and rescue services, based on research carried out in 2020. 

The report found: 

“Many (predominantly female) staff consider the workplace a very male-dominant, 

macho environment with some hostility towards women’s place in the service. 

There were also a couple of reports of hostile comments towards the ethnicity of 

some staff; some participants, however, mentioned that the culture in their service 

had improved in recent years with the recruitment of new staff.” 

Inclusive practices are crucial to give all staff a voice and influence 

Inclusive practices mean people from all backgrounds are able to influence key 

decisions and processes in their teams and organisations. This results in a wider 

range of experiences, perspectives and views being available, leading to more 

comprehensive decision-making and better staff attitudes. Services should take 

steps to make sure that the needs of staff more likely to be perceived as outsiders or 

under-represented are considered and that these staff have a voice and influence. 

In eight services we inspected in Round 2, we found examples of innovative and 

promising EDI practice. In most cases, the services have invested in promoting EDI, 

with measurable strategies to improve diversity. Each service has introduced a broad 

range of new initiatives internally as well as positive action programmes to improve 

recruitment from under-represented groups. 

One service has established a positive approach to EDI through several staff networks 

and an equality and inclusion working group. These groups organise a range of 

different activities in the service and are led by senior leaders. Staff are confident to 

address inappropriate language and behaviour. They also feel sure that the service 

will act on matters raised using the most appropriate and open approach. 

Services should complete equality impact assessments to a high standard 

While services are generally completing equality impact assessments, their quality 

varies, and some don’t seek staff input. By not involving their staff with the equality 

impact of their processes, services may exacerbate existing divisions relating to EDI. 

Services should understand the effect their work has on those with protected 

characteristics, both in their communities and at work. 

Page 93

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pathways-and-barriers-to-leadership-in-fire-and-rescue-services
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pathways-and-barriers-to-leadership-in-fire-and-rescue-services


 

 46 

 

Staff aren’t being trained well enough in equality, diversity and inclusion 

Our inspections show that a lack of robust EDI training is directly linked to staff not 

properly understanding EDI. We found that too many services don’t give staff 

enough ongoing and relevant EDI training. It is in these services that staff rarely 

understand the benefits of positive action. Some services rely heavily on e-learning 

rather than using face-to-face interaction and workshops which can be more beneficial 

for staff understanding. 

Services often don’t carry out training frequently enough. And, while most services 

provide some form of EDI training, in some it isn’t mandatory and is focused on 

new recruits. As a result, it isn’t always completed by the longer-serving staff, who 

invariably need it most. At one service, we found that formal EDI training hadn’t been 

carried out in ten years. 

Our local representative survey found that EDI training is offered more readily in 

services with good culture. In services that we issued a good grade in relation to this 

area, there is a big difference between those who are simply ticking a box by providing 

EDI training via e-learning every two or three years and those who are providing 

regular update EDI sessions through different learning platforms and methods, such 

as webinars, ‘lunch and learns’ or lived-experience discussions. When we spoke with 

staff on inspection at these services, we found strong evidence that this training was 

being well received by them. This is in contrast to other services where staff simply 

stated they have completed the expected mandatory learning. 

As the staff in services aren’t representative of the communities they serve, services 

must make sure they are receiving EDI training. 

Positive action is misunderstood by many staff, and can lead to division 

We found that across many services staff didn’t understand the benefits of 

positive action. In one service, many staff incorrectly believed that the service lowers 

its entry standards to recruit individuals with specific protected characteristics. And in 

another service, staff described positive action as “positive racism”. This could lead to 

some feeling that diversity is ‘being done to them’. 

Some staff from ethnic minority backgrounds told us that positive action made them 

uncomfortable and felt that, rather than seeking high-calibre staff, services were trying 

to fill quotas. One group of staff we met said they felt the lack of understanding of 

Recommendation 27 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should make sure their equality impact 

assessments are fit for purpose and, as a minimum, meet the requirements of the 

National Fire Chiefs Council equality impact assessment toolkit. 

Page 94

https://www.ukfrs.com/equality-impact-assessment-toolkit


 

 47 

positive action wasn’t just a service problem but a societal one, including a belief that 

women aren’t strong enough to be firefighters. 

Some services are doing well to improve staff understanding and appreciation of 

positive action, but awareness of the nature, purpose and benefit of positive action 

needs to improve across the sector. 

At one service, new recruits are given positive action awareness training as part 

of their induction. The service has also provided a range of information (including 

‘myth-busting information’) for existing members of staff to help improve 

understanding. This information is distributed through, for example, in-person visits by 

the executive team. 

Services don’t understand the diversity of their staff 

Services that view activities to support EDI as box-ticking exercises also tend 

not to recognise the value of equality impact assessments and gathering quality 

diversity data. 

Many services don’t have a good understanding of the diversity of their staff at all 

levels, including in senior leadership teams. And many aren’t using their data or 

making it readily available. This means services aren’t using diversity data to drive 

their EDI plans. And they aren’t clear on what action they need to take to improve 

the diversity of their workforces. Therefore, EDI initiatives risk being aimless and 

lacking momentum. This also limits understanding of these issues nationally. 

From our inspection evidence, we have found there are a few possible reasons for 

this, including: 

• staff not understanding the reasons and benefits of declaring their diversity; 

• staff not understanding the benefits of positive action; 

• staff being actively hostile to declaring their diversity to the service; and 

• services not effectively gathering the data, particularly at the employment stage. 

One service encourages all staff to provide their diversity data, but the current level of 

declaration of this information throughout that service is consistently below the 

England level. As of 31 March 2021, 22 percent of the service’s staff hadn’t declared 

their ethnicity. This is higher than the England figure of 9 percent. 

Another service doesn’t have enough meaningful workforce equality data to inform its 

impact assessments. This means it can’t effectively understand how potential changes 

may affect its workforce. It also can’t accurately say how well its workforce represents 

the residential population, as it doesn’t hold ethnicity data for a high proportion of 

its workforce. As of 31 March 2021, 38 percent of this service’s staff members hadn’t 

declared their ethnicity to the service. 

Page 95



 

 48 

This lack of understanding might prevent services from identifying and remedying 

problems. For example, there are still some services that don’t have adequate 

facilities for female staff at operational stations. This includes female and male 

changing lockers located next to one another and beds in dormitories only separated 

by a row of lockers or a privacy curtain. At one station in a service, there are no 

changing facilities for females, so female firefighters have to get changed in the toilets. 

More publicly available equality data is needed to better understand the challenges 

the sector faces. In particular, more published data is needed to understand the 

diversity of leadership in FRSs nationally. 

 

 

 

  

Recommendation 28 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should review how they gather and use equality 

and diversity data to improve their understanding of their staff demographics, 

including applying and meeting the requirements of the National Fire Chiefs 

Council equality, diversity and inclusion data toolkit. 

Recommendation 29 

By 1 December 2023, the Home Office should publish greater detail on the 

protected characteristic data it collects about FRS staff, including joiners and 

leavers, by rank and role. 

Recommendation 30 

By 30 December 2024, the Home Office should align the data it collects on 

protected characteristics with the Office for National Statistics harmonised 

standard and publish this data. 

Recommendation 31 

By 1 December 2024, the Home Office should collect and publish experimental 

statistics on public complaints and conduct matters in relation to FRS staff, similar 

to that which it currently publishes on police forces in England and Wales. 

Page 96

https://www.ukfrs.com/equality-diversity-and-inclusion-data-toolkit
https://www.ukfrs.com/equality-diversity-and-inclusion-data-toolkit
https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/classificationsandstandards
https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/classificationsandstandards


 

 49 

Not all staff are treated fairly 

We found that in many services, staff experiences of being treated fairly are 

dependent on their job type. Non-operational or on-call members of staff often report 

experiencing worse treatment than their operational or wholetime counterparts. 

Negative behaviour towards certain groups of staff can adversely affect career 

progression and opportunities for them in the service. It can also lead to poor 

treatment from other staff groups and, in some cases, senior managers. 

Compared to other staff groups, on-call staff reported greater levels of discrimination 

in services with requires improvement or inadequate grades for values and culture. 

All staff should be treated fairly and with respect. They should be given the same 

opportunities, regardless of their role or rank. 

In one service, we found there are different recruitment arrangements in place in 

the fire protection team for operational and non-operational staff. In another, some 

non-operational staff told us they felt their career paths were limited and that they 

were pigeonholed. In another service, the chief fire officer excluded non-operational 

staff from a staff engagement session, perpetuating an ‘us and them’ culture. 

In one service, non-operational managers can’t investigate a grievance against an 

operational member of staff. In another, some staff told us they felt it was difficult 

for operational staff to raise grievances, as they felt “it creates an awkward 

atmosphere” in the station. They said that in stations there is a lot of mistrust around 

the grievance process. This may lead to fewer issues being raised and resolved, 

increasing the likelihood of a poor culture prevailing. 

In another, some groups of staff told us that they felt they were treated differently. 

Some on-call staff felt ostracised in some locations, and some non-operational staff 

said they don’t always feel valued. 

But there are examples of services that are making sure there are opportunities for 

all staff. 

In one service, there are good opportunities for non-operational staff to develop 

and progress. It gave us examples which included a staff member being given an 

opportunity to embark on a two-year management apprenticeship qualification. 

The service acknowledged that, given there isn’t a gateway process for 

non-operational staff, these opportunities should be better advertised. A ‘metro map’ 

is being produced to show staff what development and qualifications are needed to 

get from one place (role) to another. 

Since our last inspection, one service’s fire prevention department has created 

non-operational line manager roles. Operational staff previously carried out 

these roles. This means there are more progression opportunities for non-operational 

staff, and the service can better select the right people for the job. 

Page 97



 

 50 

Progression opportunities limit diversity in leadership teams 

Effective understanding of workforce skills and capability is linked to culture. We have 

highlighted here, and in our annual and national reports, that progression opportunities 

aren’t equally available for all staff – on-call and non-operational staff generally don’t 

receive the same opportunities as their wholetime operational colleagues. This can 

lead to services failing to recognise and develop talent. It can also reduce 

opportunities to improve diversity in senior leadership teams; most female staff and 

staff from ethnic minority backgrounds work in non-operational roles so this affects 

them disproportionately. 

Some leadership job adverts require incident command experience, which would 

generally be gained from operational roles. This experience should only be required if 

absolutely necessary for the role or to maintain operational rotas, particularly for 

senior management roles. 

In one service, promotion processes aren’t fair and accessible for all staff. We were 

told that if female members of staff who work flexible hours are offered a promotion, 

the service tries “to force [staff] back into normal shifts”. One woman had to decline a 

promotion offer because she couldn’t work the shift pattern. 

But we did find some positive examples. One service runs a high development 

potential scheme which is open to internal and external applicants. The most recent 

intake was two female candidates who applied after seeing the posts advertised at 

their local rugby club. 

In its research and analysis report, Pathways and barriers to leadership in fire and 

rescue services, the Home Office found that staff felt there were few opportunities 

for promotion. It found that non-operational staff who participated in the research 

“felt especially aggrieved by limited opportunities, citing no visible pathway in 

their specialism”. And it found that on-call staff and non-operational staff “believed 

they had fewer promotion opportunities compared with wholetime staff”. 

The Home Office also said that barriers to progression can include: 

“Issues related to personal characteristics such as gender, ethnicity, family 

situation and age. Meanwhile, other wider barriers were linked to organisational 

cultures, such as issues related to perceived favouritism in leadership chains. 

These perceived barriers were typically considered to reflect the culture and 

attitudes within FRSs and leadership chains and were often seen to impede 

staff progression.”  

Page 98

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pathways-and-barriers-to-leadership-in-fire-and-rescue-services
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pathways-and-barriers-to-leadership-in-fire-and-rescue-services


 

 51 

The Home Office points to several areas in which FRSs could focus their attention 

regarding talent management and progression. These include: 

“Providing greater levels of consistency in the delivery of development 

programmes, which may be fostered through nationally backed programmes to 

increase the consistency in delivery and access.” 

This is an area that some services have spent considerable time and effort improving, 

and the NFCC’s talent management toolkit was developed to support FRSs at every 

stage of the talent management cycle, making sure people with the right skills, 

behaviours and values are in the right roles at the right time. But when the career 

pathways for staff are ineffective, and when combined with poor succession planning, 

it isn’t surprising that staff in these services don’t think the process is fair. 

We hope that the College of Fire and Rescue proposed in the White Paper Reforming 

Our Fire and Rescue Service, when established, will give greater support to services 

and a more consistent approach to developing staff and nurturing talent. 

Poor talent management, promotion processes and succession planning can 

lead to unfairness 

We found that most services have a fair and transparent promotion process, but many 

staff (49 percent of our Round 2 staff survey respondents) perceived them as unfair. 

Recruitment and promotion processes are perceived to be fairer by staff in services 

that are good or outstanding in relation to values and culture. 

Some staff in one service described its promotion processes as “feeling corrupt”. 

They expressed this frustration after applying for promotions many times and, despite 

being unsuccessful, not receiving any feedback or support. They told us: “If your face 

doesn’t fit – you won’t get in.” 

Some staff in another service talked about a “new club in town”. They commented 

that it was easy to predict who was going to be promoted based on who they 

socialised with. 

Perceptions of nepotism are particularly apparent in services where there is no 

effective talent management in place and where staff development is limited. 

In one service, we heard that the promotion policy is distorted or blatantly ignored 

when individuals are cherry-picked for senior roles. We were told some individuals are 

permitted to “leapfrog” through the promotion progress. This is despite them not 

having the necessary accreditations or even sitting the exams that are required. 

A senior leader at another service was offered a temporary promotion while a 

replacement was found. Once this period ended, they were offered another senior 

position without needing to go through any promotion process. The role they were 

offered didn’t previously exist in the service. 

Page 99

https://www.ukfrs.com/leadership
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/reforming-our-fire-and-rescue-service
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/reforming-our-fire-and-rescue-service


 

 52 

Some services need to improve their succession plans, particularly at a senior level 

Perceptions of, and actual unfair, promotion processes are sometimes linked to poor 

succession planning. We found that some services didn’t actively seek to diversify 

their senior leadership. This can lead to staff lacking confidence in the services’ 

promotion processes. 

One service has improved the way it manages succession planning for senior 

leadership roles. This service has signed a regional agreement to allow opportunities 

for the secondment of senior managers between services. This is to fill gaps while a 

full and open recruitment process takes place. The secondees gain experience of 

working as a principal officer, while the service benefits from a mutual exchange of 

knowledge and development. 

 

 

Recommendation 32 

By 1 June 2023, chief fire officers should, as a priority, specify in succession plans 

how they intend to improve diversity across all levels of the service. This should 

include offering increased direct-entry opportunities. 

Recommendation 33 

By 1 August 2023, chief fire officers should develop plans to promote progression 

paths for existing staff in non-operational roles and put plans in place to reduce 

any inequalities of opportunity. 

Page 100



 

 53 

National work is supporting fire service 
improvements 

The Fire Standards Board recently introduced its leadership and 

people fire standards 

In December 2022, the Fire Standards Board introduced two professional standards 

called leading the service and leading and developing people. They build on the Core 

Code of Ethics. 

The leading the service standard sets out how senior leaders in the fire and rescue 

service (FRS) can make sure organisations provides excellent service to the 

community, built on positive relationships and trust. 

The leading and developing people standard sets out how to establish, maintain and 

deploy a competent, diverse and motivated workforce. This includes carrying out 

robust workforce planning, having effective policies and processes and developing a 

variety of entry routes to attract and recruit a diverse workforce. 

HMICFRS takes fire standards into consideration when conducting inspections but 

doesn’t assess FRSs directly against these standards. 

The National Fire Chiefs Council is promoting values and culture 

The National Fire Chief Council’s (NFCC) people programme is committed to making 

sure that the public has the most capable FRSs and that their cultural values and 

behaviours make them great places to work. As the NFCC is a strategic organisation, 

it is the responsibility of the leaders in each service to implement NFCC guidance. 

The programme’s work includes promoting equality, diversity and inclusion in 

FRSs, highlighting the values of their services and encouraging open, flexible and 

inclusive cultures. It does this by working with FRS employers, the workforce and 

trade unions to identify and promote best practice. 

The NFCC’s people programme is in its second phase. It is focusing on cultural reform 

and strengthening leadership, including working on diversity and recruitment. 

The NFCC produces tools and guidance for FRSs to use and has started to map the 

Fire Standards Board’s standards against the programme. 

Page 101

https://www.firestandards.org/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/leading-the-service-fsc-led01b/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/leading-developing-people-fsc-led01a/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/code-of-ethics-fsc-eth01/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/code-of-ethics-fsc-eth01/
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/People-Programme
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/


 

 54 

A key development has been the introduction of the Core Code of Ethics. The code 

was developed by the Fire Standards Board in partnership with the NFCC, the 

Association of Police and Crime Commissioners and the Local Government 

Association, in response to our recommendation in the 2019 State of Fire Report. 

The Fire Standards Board published the code in May 2021. 

The code sets out five ethical principles: 

• putting communities first 

• integrity 

• dignity and respect 

• leadership 

• equality, diversity and inclusion. 

The NFCC suggested that services use the Core Code of Ethics to carry out a gap 

analysis of their existing behavioural frameworks, values, and cultural approaches, 

and to make sure that the principles of the code are incorporated into them. 

Everyone in every FRS in England is expected to follow the code. 

Most services are adopting the Core Code of Ethics 

In our Round 2 inspections, we found most services are adopting the Core Code of 

Ethics, though to varying degrees. 

One service has incorporated the Core Code of Ethics into its own ‘code of ethical 

conduct’, which has been signed by all staff. And members of the senior leadership 

team have signed up to a ‘senior code’. The service has also laid out a set of 

behavioural expectations in its initiatives ‘a customer promise’ and ‘a promise to 

each other’. We saw during our inspection that these initiatives have worked well. 

Staff gave us positive accounts, such as people being respectful of each other and 

feeling looked after by the service. 

Another service has a workplace charter that incorporates the Core Code of Ethics. 

It sets out the standards of behaviour expected in the service. It was evident 

throughout our last inspection that there was a positive culture in the organisation. 

Senior leaders have a clear plan for the service. All staff understand that having a 

positive culture is a service priority. Positive behaviours are firmly in place, accepted, 

carried out and understood across the whole organisation. 

In our Round 3 inspections, we hope to continue to see services taking the 

implementation of the code seriously. 

 

Recommendation 34 

With immediate effect, chief fire officers should review their implementation of the 

Core Code of Ethics and make sure it is being applied across their services. 

Page 102

https://apccs.police.uk/
https://www.local.gov.uk/
https://www.local.gov.uk/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/state-of-fire-and-rescue-annual-assessment-2019/
https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/code-of-ethics-fsc-eth01/


 

 55 

The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England should be 

strengthened 

The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England is prepared by the Secretary 

of State. It sets out guidance and priorities that fire and rescue authorities must 

comply with. The Government has a duty under the Fire and Rescue Services Act 

2004 to produce the framework and keep it current. 

 

Recommendation 35 

By the end of this Parliament, the Government should consider the findings and 

recommendations in this report when refreshing the Fire and Rescue National 

Framework for England. 

Page 103

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-and-rescue-national-framework-for-england--2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/21/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/21/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-and-rescue-national-framework-for-england--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-and-rescue-national-framework-for-england--2


 

 56 

Conclusion 

Implementing the recommendations in this report is crucial for 

change 

Some services have improved since our first round of inspections. And national 

efforts, including the Core Code of Ethics, have certainly helped bring the issue of 

poor cultures in fire and rescue services (FRSs) into focus. We also understand that 

many people working in FRSs have made a significant effort to improve their values, 

culture and diversity. But the findings from our most recent inspections have shown 

that a great deal more work is needed to improve values and culture. Even some 

services that are good in this area have more to do. This isn’t a time to be complacent. 

The recommendations in this report are designed to guide the relevant individuals and 

organisations in the right direction. But they are the minimum of work that we expect 

those involved to carry out. Services and national organisations should continuously 

consider what more they can do to improve values and culture in FRSs. 

Some changes may take time, but for others, there is no reason why they can’t be 

implemented immediately. A joint, concerted effort is needed by every single person 

and organisation at every level of the fire and rescue sector and those aligned to it. 

Every single person working in an FRS, and every member of the public, deserves to 

be treated with respect and compassion.

Page 104

https://www.firestandards.org/standards/approved/code-of-ethics-fsc-eth01/


 

 

March 2023 | © HMICFRS 2023 

www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs 

Page 105

http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting - 2 December 2022
	3 Sickness Absence Performance Report Quarter Four 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023
	4 Health and Safety Report 2022/23
	5 Private Medical Care
	6 Values and Culture in Fire and Rescue Services Spotlight Report
	Item 6 Appendix A
	Values and culture in fire and rescue services
	Contents
	Scope
	Foreword
	Our recommendations
	Raising concerns
	Recommendation 1
	Recommendation 2
	Recommendation 3
	Recommendation 4
	Recommendation 5

	Background checks
	Recommendation 6
	Recommendation 7
	Recommendation 8
	Recommendation 9
	Recommendation 10

	Misconduct handling
	Recommendation 11
	Recommendation 12
	Recommendation 13
	Recommendation 14
	Recommendation 15
	Recommendation 16
	Recommendation 17
	Recommendation 18
	Recommendation 19

	Leadership
	Recommendation 20
	Recommendation 21
	Recommendation 22
	Recommendation 23
	Recommendation 24

	Management and leadership training and development
	Recommendation 25
	Recommendation 26

	Diversity data
	Recommendation 27
	Recommendation 28
	Recommendation 29
	Recommendation 30
	Recommendation 31

	Improving diversity
	Recommendation 32
	Recommendation 33

	The Core Code of Ethics
	Recommendation 34

	The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England
	Recommendation 35


	Summary
	We have repeatedly expressed concern about values and culture in the fire and rescue service since we began inspections in 2018
	Not enough progress has been made
	We continued to find examples of bullying, harassment and discrimination in some services
	We moved two services into our engage phase of enhanced monitoring

	Defining the problem
	What do we mean by values and culture?
	What do we mean by equality, diversity and inclusion?
	Why are values and culture important?
	Ensuring staff safety, well-being and productivity
	Providing a safe and effective service to the public
	Services have legal obligations
	Culture is linked to discrimination


	Methodology
	Our approach

	Our findings
	Improvements in some services’ values aren’t always reflected in staff behaviours
	Bullying, harassment and discrimination are, to varying degrees, still problems in all services
	Subgroups, including watches, can foster unacceptable behaviours and poor cultures
	Staff can feel unable to challenge or report poor behaviours
	Some managers are unable to deal with or challenge inappropriate behaviours

	Staff need a secure way to raise concerns
	Recommendation 1
	Recommendation 2
	Recommendation 3
	Recommendation 4
	Recommendation 5

	Background checks of fire and rescue service staff need to improve to reduce risk of harm to both staff and the public
	Recommendation 6
	Recommendation 7
	Recommendation 8
	Recommendation 9
	Recommendation 10
	Allegations of misconduct should be handled appropriately
	Recommendation 11
	Recommendation 12
	Recommendation 13
	Recommendation 14
	Recommendation 15
	Recommendation 16
	Recommendation 17
	Recommendation 18
	Recommendation 19

	A positive culture is created in services where the leadership is visible, transparent and fair
	Recommendation 20
	Recommendation 21
	Recommendation 22
	Recommendation 23
	Recommendation 24

	Supervisors and middle managers need to be better trained in how to effectively manage, develop and support their staff
	Recommendation 25
	Recommendation 26

	Most services need to do more to improve their equality, diversity and inclusion
	There isn’t enough diversity in fire and rescue services
	Services need to be more inclusive to support and retain staff
	Discrimination is prevalent
	Inclusive practices are crucial to give all staff a voice and influence
	Services should complete equality impact assessments to a high standard

	Recommendation 27
	Staff aren’t being trained well enough in equality, diversity and inclusion
	Positive action is misunderstood by many staff, and can lead to division

	Services don’t understand the diversity of their staff
	Recommendation 28
	Recommendation 29
	Recommendation 30
	Recommendation 31
	Not all staff are treated fairly

	Progression opportunities limit diversity in leadership teams
	Poor talent management, promotion processes and succession planning can lead to unfairness
	Some services need to improve their succession plans, particularly at a senior level

	Recommendation 32
	Recommendation 33


	National work is supporting fire service improvements
	The Fire Standards Board recently introduced its leadership and people fire standards
	The National Fire Chiefs Council is promoting values and culture
	Most services are adopting the Core Code of Ethics
	Recommendation 34

	The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England should be strengthened
	Recommendation 35


	Conclusion
	Implementing the recommendations in this report is crucial for change





